# **Federal Courts:**

Cases and Materials on Judicial Federalism and the Lawyering Process

FOURTH EDITION

2019 Supplement

#### Arthur D. Hellman

Professor of Law Emeritus University of Pittsburgh School of Law

#### David R. Stras

Judge

United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit

#### Ryan W. Scott

Professor of Law Indiana University Maurer School of Law

#### F. Andrew Hessick

Professor of Law University of North Carolina School of Law Copyright © 2019 Carolina Academic Press, LLC All Rights Reserved

## **Carolina Academic Press**

700 Kent Street
Durham, North Carolina 27701
Telephone (919) 489-7486
Fax (919) 493-5668
E-mail: cap@cap-press.com
www.cap-press.com

#### **Preface**

The authors completed work on the Fourth Edition of this casebook in early 2017. Since then, although Congress has not amended any of the important jurisdictional statutes, the Supreme Court has continued to play an active role in shaping (or reshaping) Federal Courts law. This Supplement contains five cases that we think are of particular interest from a Federal Courts perspective.

We recognize that some decisions that loom large on first reading may fade in importance as time goes by. Still, there is pedagogical value in studying recent cases that highlight current issues and reveal philosophical divisions among the Justices now on the Court. We have therefore opted to err on the side of inclusion.

Although the decisions range over four distinct areas of Federal Courts law (standing, the political question doctrine, removal, and *Bivens*), they have one striking feature in common: all five rulings close the doors of the federal courts (in one instance, the federal appellate courts) to a particular class of litigants.

- In Gill v. Whitford (Chapter 3), the Court unanimously held that the plaintiff voters lacked standing to challenge a statewide redistricting map as the product of partisan gerrymandering. The injury they asserted, the dilution of the influence of their votes, was insufficient because the plaintiffs did not allege that they lived in a legislative district that was "packed" or "cracked" for partisan reasons. But the Court took the unusual step of remanding the case to allow the plaintiffs to refine their standing theory, and perhaps to allege alternative forms of injury that flow from partisan gerrymandering. Justice Kagan, joined by Justices Ginsburg, Breyer, and Sotomayor, wrote separately to show how the plaintiffs could satisfy the standing requirement and also to discuss the possibility of an alternative argument for standing based on infringement of the First Amendment right of association.
- In Virginia House of Delegates v. Bethune-Hill (Chapter 3), a divided three-judge district court held that the state's legislative map was the product of unconstitutional racial gerrymandering, but the state's attorney general declined to appeal from that ruling. The Supreme Court held that a house of the state legislature lacked standing to appeal because state law authorizes only the attorney general to represent the state, and the legislature could identify no independent injury flowing from the district court judgment. Justice Alito, joined by Chief Justice Roberts and Justices Breyer and Kavanaugh, dissented.
- In *Rucho v. Common Cause* (Chapter 3), the Court resolved decades of uncertainty by unequivocally holding that partisan gerrymandering claims present nonjusticiable political questions. Noting the long history of gerrymandering in the United States, the Court concluded that there are no judicially manageable standards for identifying when partisan gerrymandering has gone "too far." Justice Kagan, joined by Justices Ginsburg, Breyer, and Sotomayor, dissented.
- In Ziglar v. Abassi (Chapter 8), the Court significantly curtailed the availability of implied causes of under Bivens v. Unknown Named Federal Agents. Under Bivens, courts could readily recognize new implied cause of action to enforce constitutional rights unless Congress

ii PREFACE

had provided an alternate remedy or there were special factors counseling against the recognition of the action. *Ziglar* reversed this presumption in favor of new actions. By a 4-2 vote, the Court concluded that courts should not extend *Bivens* to new contexts unless there are special circumstances suggesting that the judiciary, as opposed to Congress, is the appropriate body to create the action.

• In *Home Depot U.S.A., Inc. v. Jackson* (Chapter 12), the question was whether a third-party counterclaim defendant can remove a case to federal court, either under § 1441(a), or (if the case otherwise qualifies) under the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 (CAFA) (see Chapter 2). Most observers expected the Court to uphold removal under CAFA and perhaps under § 1441(a) as well. However, a 5-4 majority, with Justice Thomas writing for the Court, rejected all of the arguments for removal. Justice Alito, joined by Chief Justice Roberts, Justice Gorsuch, and Justice Kavanaugh, dissented.

Perhaps of greater significance than any of the decisions were the changes in the Court's membership. In February 2016, before most of the 2015 Term's decisions had been issued, Justice Antonin Scalia died suddenly. His seat remained vacant until April 2017, when Justice Neal A. Gorsuch was confirmed by the Senate. At the end of the 2017 Term, Justice Anthony M. Kennedy retired. He was replaced by Justice Brett M. Kavanaugh, who was the subject of an exceptionally acrimonious confirmation process that culminated in a 50-48 Senate vote.

As always, the authors express their appreciation to the staff of the University of Pittsburgh School of Law Document Technology Center for their dedicated efforts that made it possible to produce this Supplement under a pressing deadline. As with the Casebook, we welcome comments and suggestions from users and readers.

Arthur D. Hellman: hellman@pitt.edu

David R. Stras: david.stras@hotmail.com

Ryan W. Scott: <u>ryanscot@indiana.edu</u>

F. Andrew Hessick: ahessick@email.unc.edu

## Table of Contents

Chapter 3: Justiciability and the Case or Controversy Requirement		
A.	Standing	1
	Gill v. Whitford	
	Note: Standing to Challenge Partisan Gerrymandering	13
	Virginia House of Delegates v. Bethune-Hill	13
	Note: Standing to Appeal and Legislative Standing	
D.	The Political Question Doctrine	
	Rucho v. Common Cause	23
	Note: Partisan Gerrymandering as a Political Question	
Cha	apter 8: Federal Common Law	
D.	Implied Remedies for Violation of Constitutional Rights	41
	Ziglar v. Abbasi et al	
	Note: The Demise of <i>Bivens</i> ?	55
	Problem	56
Cha	apter 12: Special Problems of Removal Jurisdiction	57
A.	Introduction	57
	Home Depot U.S.A., Inc. v. Jackson	
	Note: Removal by Third Party Defendants	
Apr	pendix B: The Justices of the United States Supreme Court,	
	1946-2018 Terms	69

## Chapter 3

## Justiciability and the Case or Controversy Requirement

## A. Standing

Page 85: insert after the Note:

#### Gill v. Whitford

Supreme Court of the United States, 2018. 138 S. Ct. 1916 (2018).

CHIEF JUSTICE ROBERTS delivered the opinion of the Court.

The State of Wisconsin, like most other States, entrusts to its legislature the periodic task of redrawing the boundaries of the State's legislative districts. A group of Wisconsin Democratic voters filed a complaint in the District Court, alleging that the legislature carried out this task with an eye to diminishing the ability of Wisconsin Democrats to convert Democratic votes into Democratic seats in the legislature. The plaintiffs asserted that, in so doing, the legislature had infringed their rights under the First and Fourteenth Amendments.

But a plaintiff seeking relief in federal court must first demonstrate that he has standing to do so, including that he has "a personal stake in the outcome," distinct from a "generally available grievance about government." That threshold requirement "ensures that we act *as judges*, and do not engage in policymaking properly left to elected representatives." Certain of the plaintiffs before us alleged that they had such a personal stake in this case, but never followed up with the requisite proof. The District Court and this Court therefore lack the power to resolve their claims. We vacate the judgment and remand the case for further proceedings, in the course of which those plaintiffs may attempt to demonstrate standing in accord with the analysis in this opinion.

Ι

Wisconsin's Legislature consists of a State Assembly and a State Senate. The 99 members of the Assembly are chosen from single districts that must "consist of contiguous territory and be in as compact form as practicable." State senators are likewise chosen from single-member districts, which are laid on top of the State Assembly districts so that three Assembly districts form one Senate district.

The Wisconsin Constitution gives the legislature the responsibility to "apportion and district anew the members of the senate and assembly" at the first session following each census. In recent decades, however, that responsibility has just as often been taken up by federal courts. Following the census in 1980, 1990, and 2000, federal courts drew the State's legislative districts when the Legislature and the Governor — split on party lines — were unable to agree on new districting plans. The Legislature has broken the logjam just twice in the last 40 years. In 1983, a Democratic Legislature passed, and a Democratic Governor signed, a new districting plan that remained in effect until the 1990 census. In 2011, a Republican Legislature passed, and a Republican Governor signed, the districting plan at issue here, known as Act 43. Following the passage of Act 43, Republicans won majorities in the State Assembly in the 2012 and 2014 elections. In 2012, Republicans won 60 Assembly seats with 48.6% of the two-party statewide vote for Assembly candidates. In 2014, Republicans won 63 Assembly seats with 52% of the statewide vote.

CH. 3

In July 2015, twelve Wisconsin voters filed a complaint in the Western District of Wisconsin challenging Act 43. The plaintiffs identified themselves as "supporters of the public policies espoused by the Democratic Party and of Democratic Party candidates." They alleged that Act 43 is a partisan gerrymander that "unfairly favor[s] Republican voters and candidates," and that it does so by "cracking" and "packing" Democratic voters around Wisconsin. As they explained:

Cracking means dividing a party's supporters among multiple districts so that they fall short of a majority in each one. Packing means concentrating one party's backers in a few districts that they win by overwhelming margins.

Four of the plaintiffs — Mary Lynne Donohue, Wendy Sue Johnson, Janet Mitchell, and Jerome Wallace — alleged that they lived in State Assembly districts where Democrats have been cracked or packed. All of the plaintiffs also alleged that, regardless of "whether they themselves reside in a district that has been packed or cracked," they have been "harmed by the manipulation of district boundaries" because Democrats statewide "do not have the same opportunity provided to Republicans to elect representatives of their choice to the Assembly."

The plaintiffs argued that, on a statewide level, the degree to which packing and cracking has favored one party over another can be measured by a single calculation: an "efficiency gap" that compares each party's respective "wasted" votes across all legislative districts. "Wasted" votes are those cast for a losing candidate or for a winning candidate in excess of what that candidate needs to win. The plaintiffs alleged that Act 43 resulted in an unusually large efficiency gap that favored Republicans. They also submitted a "Demonstration Plan" that, they asserted, met all of the legal criteria for apportionment, but was at the same time "almost perfectly balanced in its partisan consequences." They argued that because Act 43 generated a large and unnecessary efficiency gap in favor of Republicans, it violated the First Amendment right of association of Wisconsin Democratic voters and their Fourteenth Amendment right to equal protection. The plaintiffs named several members of the state election commission as defendants in the action.

The election officials moved to dismiss the complaint. They argued, among other things, that the plaintiffs lacked standing to challenge the constitutionality of Act 43 as a whole because, as individual voters, their legally protected interests extend only to the makeup of the legislative districts in which they vote. A three-judge panel of the District Court denied the defendants' motion. In the District Court's view, the plaintiffs "identif[ied] their injury as not simply their inability to elect a representative in their own districts, but also their reduced opportunity to be represented by Democratic legislators across the state." It therefore followed, in the District Court's opinion, that "[b]ecause plaintiffs' alleged injury in this case relates to their statewide representation, . . . they should be permitted to bring a statewide claim."

The case proceeded to trial, where the plaintiffs presented testimony from four fact witnesses. The first was lead plaintiff William Whitford, a retired law professor at the University of Wisconsin in Madison. Whitford testified that he lives in Madison in the 76th Assembly District, and acknowledged on cross-examination that this is, under any plausible circumstances, a heavily Democratic district. Under Act 43, the Democratic share of the Assembly vote in Whitford's district is 81.9%; under the plaintiffs' ideal map — their Demonstration Plan — the

projected Democratic share of the Assembly vote in Whitford's district would be 82%. Whitford therefore conceded that Act 43 had not "affected [his] ability to vote for and elect a Democrat in [his] district." Whitford testified that he had nevertheless suffered a harm "relate[d] to [his] ability to engage in campaign activity to achieve a majority in the Assembly and the Senate."...

At the close of evidence, the court held that the plaintiffs had a "cognizable equal protection right against state-imposed barriers on [their] ability to vote effectively for the party of [their] choice." It concluded that Act 43 "prevent[ed] Wisconsin Democrats from being able to translate their votes into seats as effectively as Wisconsin Republicans," and that "Wisconsin Democrats, therefore, have suffered a personal injury to their Equal Protection rights." The court turned away the defendants' argument that the plaintiffs' injury was not sufficiently particularized by finding that "[t]he harm that the plaintiffs have experienced . . . is one shared by Democratic voters in the State of Wisconsin. The dilution of their votes is both personal and acute." . . .

The District Court enjoined the defendants from using the Act 43 map in future elections and ordered them to have a remedial districting plan in place no later than November 1, 2017. The defendants appealed directly to this Court, as provided under 28 U.S.C. § 1253. We stayed the District Court's judgment and postponed consideration of our jurisdiction.

## II A

Over the past five decades this Court has been repeatedly asked to decide what judicially enforceable limits, if any, the Constitution sets on the gerrymandering of voters along partisan lines. Our previous attempts at an answer have left few clear landmarks for addressing the question. What our precedents have to say on the topic is, however, instructive as to the myriad competing considerations that partisan gerrymandering claims involve. Our efforts to sort through those considerations have generated conflicting views both of how to conceive of the injury arising from partisan gerrymandering and of the appropriate role for the Federal Judiciary in remedying that injury. [The Court summarized the Justices' opinions in four cases decided from 1973 through 2006.]

В

At argument on appeal in this case, counsel for the plaintiffs argued that this Court *can* address the problem of partisan gerrymandering because it *must*: The Court should exercise its power here because it is the "only institution in the United States" capable of "solv[ing] this problem." Such invitations must be answered with care. "Failure of political will does not justify unconstitutional remedies." Our power as judges to "say what the law is" rests not on the default of politically accountable officers, but is instead grounded in and limited by the necessity of resolving, according to legal principles, a plaintiff's particular claim of legal right.

Our considerable efforts [on partisan gerrymandering] leave unresolved whether such claims may be brought.... In particular, two threshold questions remain: what is necessary to show standing in a case of this sort, and whether those claims are justiciable. Here we do not decide the latter question because the plaintiffs in this case have not shown standing under the theory upon which they based their claims for relief.

To ensure that the Federal Judiciary respects "the proper — and properly limited — role of the courts in a democratic society," a plaintiff may not invoke federal-court jurisdiction unless he can show "a personal stake in the outcome of the controversy." A federal court is not "a forum for generalized grievances," and the requirement of such a personal stake "ensures that courts exercise power that is judicial in nature." We enforce that requirement by insisting that a plaintiff satisfy the familiar three-part test for Article III standing: that he "(1) suffered an injury in fact, (2) that is fairly traceable to the challenged conduct of the defendant, and (3) that is likely to be redressed by a favorable judicial decision." Foremost

among these requirements is injury in fact — a plaintiff's pleading and proof that he has suffered the "invasion of a legally protected interest" that is "concrete and particularized," *i.e.*, which "affect[s] the plaintiff in a personal and individual way."

We have long recognized that a person's right to vote is "individual and personal in nature." Thus, "voters who allege facts showing disadvantage to themselves as individuals have standing to sue" to remedy that disadvantage. The plaintiffs in this case alleged that they suffered such injury from partisan gerrymandering, which works through "packing" and "cracking" voters of one party to disadvantage those voters. That is, the plaintiffs claim a constitutional right not to be placed in legislative districts deliberately designed to "waste" their votes in elections where their chosen candidates will win in landslides (packing) or are destined to lose by closer margins (cracking).

To the extent the plaintiffs' alleged harm is the dilution of their votes, that injury is district specific. An individual voter in Wisconsin is placed in a single district. He votes for a single representative. The boundaries of the district, and the composition of its voters, determine whether and to what extent a particular voter is packed or cracked. This "disadvantage to [the voter] as [an] individual[]" therefore results from the boundaries of the particular district in which he resides. And a plaintiff's remedy must be "limited to the inadequacy that produced [his] injury in fact." In this case the remedy that is proper and sufficient lies in the revision of the boundaries of the individual's own district.

For similar reasons, we have held that a plaintiff who alleges that he is the object of a racial gerrymander — a drawing of district lines on the basis of race — has standing to assert only that his own district has been so gerrymandered. A plaintiff who complains of gerrymandering, but who does not live in a gerrymandered district, "assert[s] only a generalized grievance against governmental conduct of which he or she does not approve." Plaintiffs who complain of racial gerrymandering in their State cannot sue to invalidate the whole State's legislative districting map; such complaints must proceed "district-by-district."

The plaintiffs argue that their claim of statewide injury is analogous to the claims presented in *Baker v. Carr*, 369 U.S. 186 (1962), and *Reynolds v. Sims*, 377 U.S. 533 (1964), which they assert were "statewide in nature" because they rested on allegations that "districts *throughout a state* [had] been malapportioned." But... the holdings in *Baker* and *Reynolds* were expressly premised on the understanding that the injuries giving rise to those claims were "individual and personal in nature," because the claims were brought by voters who alleged "facts showing disadvantage to themselves as individuals."

The plaintiffs' mistaken insistence that the claims in *Baker* and *Reynolds* were "statewide in nature" rests on a failure to distinguish injury from remedy. In

those malapportionment cases, the only way to vindicate an individual plaintiff's right to an equally weighted vote was through a wholesale "restructuring of the geographical distribution of seats in a state legislature."

Here, the plaintiffs' partisan gerrymandering claims turn on allegations that their votes have been diluted. That harm arises from the particular composition of the voter's own district, which causes his vote — having been packed or cracked — to carry less weight than it would carry in another, hypothetical district. Remedying the individual voter's harm, therefore, does not necessarily require restructuring all of the State's legislative districts. It requires revising only such districts as are necessary to reshape the voter's district — so that the voter may be unpacked or uncracked, as the case may be. This fits the rule that a "remedy must of course be limited to the inadequacy that produced the injury in fact that the plaintiff has established."

The plaintiffs argue that their legal injury is not limited to the injury that they have suffered as individual voters, but extends also to the statewide harm to their interest "in their collective representation in the legislature," and in influencing the legislature's overall "composition and policymaking." But our cases to date have not found that this presents an individual and personal injury of the kind required for Article III standing. On the facts of this case, the plaintiffs may not rely on "the kind of undifferentiated, generalized grievance about the conduct of government that we have refused to countenance in the past." A citizen's interest in the overall composition of the legislature is embodied in his right to vote for his representative. And the citizen's abstract interest in policies adopted by the legislature on the facts here is a nonjusticiable "general interest common to all members of the public."

We leave for another day consideration of other possible theories of harm not presented here and whether those theories might present justiciable claims giving rise to statewide remedies. Justice Kagan's concurring opinion endeavors to address "other kinds of constitutional harm," perhaps involving different kinds of plaintiffs, and differently alleged burdens. But the opinion of the Court rests on the understanding that we lack jurisdiction to decide this case, much less to draw speculative and advisory conclusions regarding others. The reasoning of this Court with respect to the disposition of this case is set forth in this opinion and none other. And the sum of the standing principles articulated here, as applied to this case, is that the harm asserted by the plaintiffs is best understood as arising from a burden on those plaintiffs' own votes. In this gerrymandering context that burden arises through a voter's placement in a "cracked" or "packed" district.

C

Four of the plaintiffs in this case — Mary Lynne Donohue, Wendy Sue Johnson, Janet Mitchell, and Jerome Wallace — pleaded a particularized burden along such lines. They alleged that Act 43 had "dilut[ed] the influence" of their votes as a result of packing or cracking in their legislative districts. The facts necessary to establish standing, however, must not only be alleged at the pleading stage, but also proved at trial. As the proceedings in the District Court progressed to trial, the plaintiffs failed to meaningfully pursue their allegations of individual harm. The plaintiffs did not seek to show such requisite harm since, on this record, it appears that not a single plaintiff sought to prove that he or she lives in a cracked or packed district. They instead rested their case at trial — and their

arguments before this Court — on their theory of statewide injury to Wisconsin Democrats, in support of which they offered three kinds of evidence.

CH. 3

First, the plaintiffs presented the testimony of the lead plaintiff, Professor Whitford. But Whitford's testimony does not support any claim of packing or cracking of himself as a voter. Indeed, Whitford expressly acknowledged that Act 43 did not affect the weight of his vote. His testimony points merely to his hope of achieving a Democratic majority in the legislature — what the plaintiffs describe here as their shared interest in the composition of "the legislature as a whole." Under our cases to date, that is a collective political interest, not an individual legal interest, and the Court must be cautious that it does not become "a forum for generalized grievances."

Second, the plaintiffs provided evidence regarding the mapmakers' deliberations as they drew district lines. As the District Court recounted, the plaintiffs' evidence showed that the mapmakers "test[ed] the partisan makeup and performance of districts as they might be configured in different ways." Each of the mapmakers' alternative configurations came with a table that listed the number of "Safe" and "Lean" seats for each party, as well as "Swing" seats. The mapmakers also labeled certain districts as ones in which "GOP seats [would be] strengthened a lot," or which would result in "Statistical Pick Ups" for Republicans. And they identified still other districts in which "GOP seats [would be] strengthened a little," "weakened a little," or were "likely lost."

The District Court relied upon this evidence in concluding that, "from the outset of the redistricting process, the drafters sought to understand the partisan effect of the maps they were drawing." That evidence may well be pertinent with respect to any ultimate determination whether the plaintiffs may prevail in their claims against the defendants, assuming such claims present a justiciable controversy. But the question at this point is whether the plaintiffs have established injury in fact. That turns on effect, not intent, and requires a showing of a burden on the plaintiffs' votes that is "actual or imminent, not 'conjectural' or 'hypothetical.'"

Third, the plaintiffs offered evidence concerning the impact that Act 43 had in skewing Wisconsin's statewide political map in favor of Republicans. This evidence, which made up the heart of the plaintiffs' case, was derived from partisan-asymmetry studies. The plaintiffs contend that these studies measure deviations from "partisan symmetry," which they describe as the "social scientific tenet that [districting] maps should treat parties symmetrically." In the District Court, the plaintiffs' case rested largely on a particular measure of partisan asymmetry — the "efficiency gap" of wasted votes. That measure was first developed in two academic articles published shortly before the initiation of this lawsuit.

The plaintiffs asserted in their complaint that the "efficiency gap captures in a single number all of a district plan's cracking and packing." That number is calculated by subtracting the statewide sum of one party's wasted votes from the statewide sum of the other party's wasted votes and dividing the result by the statewide sum of all votes cast, where "wasted votes" are defined as all votes cast for a losing candidate and all votes cast for a winning candidate beyond the 50% plus one that ensures victory. The larger the number produced by that calculation, the greater the asymmetry between the parties in their efficiency in converting votes into legislative seats. Though they take no firm position on the matter, the

plaintiffs have suggested that an efficiency gap in the range of 7% to 10% should trigger constitutional scrutiny.

The plaintiffs and their *amici curiae* promise us that the efficiency gap and similar measures of partisan asymmetry will allow the federal courts — armed with just "a pencil and paper or a hand calculator" — to finally solve the problem of partisan gerrymandering that has confounded the Court for decades. We need not doubt the plaintiffs' math. The difficulty for standing purposes is that these calculations are an average measure. They do not address the effect that a gerrymander has on the votes of particular citizens. Partisan-asymmetry metrics such as the efficiency gap measure something else entirely: the effect that a gerrymander has on the fortunes of political parties.

Consider the situation of Professor Whitford, who lives in District 76, where, defendants contend, Democrats are "naturally" packed due to their geographic concentration, with that of plaintiff Mary Lynne Donohue, who lives in Assembly District 26 in Sheboygan, where Democrats like her have allegedly been deliberately cracked. By all accounts, Act 43 has not affected Whitford's individual vote for his Assembly representative — even plaintiffs' own demonstration map resulted in a virtually identical district for him. Donohue, on the other hand, alleges that Act 43 burdened her individual vote. Yet neither the efficiency gap nor the other measures of partisan asymmetry offered by the plaintiffs are capable of telling the difference between what Act 43 did to Whitford and what it did to Donohue. The single statewide measure of partisan advantage delivered by the efficiency gap treats Whitford and Donohue as indistinguishable, even though their individual situations are quite different.

That shortcoming confirms the fundamental problem with the plaintiffs' case as presented on this record. It is a case about group political interests, not individual legal rights. But this Court is not responsible for vindicating generalized partisan preferences. The Court's constitutionally prescribed role is to vindicate the individual rights of the people appearing before it.

III

In cases where a plaintiff fails to demonstrate Article III standing, we usually direct the dismissal of the plaintiff's claims. This is not the usual case. It concerns an unsettled kind of claim this Court has not agreed upon, the contours and justiciability of which are unresolved. Under the circumstances, and in light of the plaintiffs' allegations that Donohue, Johnson, Mitchell, and Wallace live in districts where Democrats like them have been packed or cracked, we decline to direct dismissal.

We therefore remand the case to the District Court so that the plaintiffs may have an opportunity to prove concrete and particularized injuries using evidence — unlike the bulk of the evidence presented thus far — that would tend to demonstrate a burden on their individual votes. We express no view on the merits of the plaintiffs' case. We caution, however, that "standing is not dispensed in gross": A plaintiff's remedy must be tailored to redress the plaintiff's particular injury.

The judgment of the District Court is vacated, and the case is remanded for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

It is so ordered.

CH. 3

JUSTICE KAGAN, with whom JUSTICE GINSBURG, JUSTICE BREYER, and JUSTICE SOTOMAYOR join, concurring.

The Court holds today that a plaintiff asserting a partisan gerrymandering claim based on a theory of vote dilution must prove that she lives in a packed or cracked district in order to establish standing. The Court also holds that none of the plaintiffs here have yet made that required showing.

I agree with both conclusions, and with the Court's decision to remand this case to allow the plaintiffs to prove that they live in packed or cracked districts. I write to address in more detail what kind of evidence the present plaintiffs (or any additional ones) must offer to support that allegation. And I write to make some observations about what would happen if they succeed in proving standing — that is, about how their vote dilution case could then proceed on the merits. The key point is that the case could go forward in much the same way it did below: Given the charges of statewide packing and cracking, affecting a slew of districts and residents, the challengers could make use of statewide evidence and seek a statewide remedy.

I also write separately because I think the plaintiffs may have wanted to do more than present a vote dilution theory. Partisan gerrymandering no doubt burdens individual votes, but it also causes other harms. And at some points in this litigation, the plaintiffs complained of a different injury — an infringement of their First Amendment right of association. The Court rightly does not address that alternative argument: The plaintiffs did not advance it with sufficient clarity or concreteness to make it a real part of the case. But because on remand they may well develop the associational theory, I address the standing requirement that would then apply. As I'll explain, a plaintiff presenting such a theory would not need to show that her particular voting district was packed or cracked for standing purposes because that fact would bear no connection to her substantive claim. Indeed, everything about the litigation of that claim — from standing on down to remedy — would be statewide in nature.

Partisan gerrymandering, as this Court has recognized, is "incompatible with democratic principles." More effectively every day, that practice enables politicians to entrench themselves in power against the people's will. And only the courts can do anything to remedy the problem, because gerrymanders benefit those who control the political branches. None of those facts gives judges any excuse to disregard Article III's demands. The Court is right to say they were not met here. But partisan gerrymandering injures enough individuals and organizations in enough concrete ways to ensure that standing requirements, properly applied, will not often or long prevent courts from reaching the merits of cases like this one. Or from insisting, when they do, that partisan officials stop degrading the nation's democracy.

I

As the Court explains, the plaintiffs' theory in this case focuses on vote dilution. That is, the plaintiffs assert that Wisconsin's State Assembly Map has caused their votes "to carry less weight than [they] would carry in another, hypothetical district." And the mechanism used to wreak that harm is "packing" and "cracking." In a relatively few districts, the mapmakers packed supermajorities of Democratic voters — well beyond the number needed for a Democratic candidate to prevail. And in many more districts, dispersed throughout the State, the mapmakers cracked Democratic voters — spreading them

sufficiently thin to prevent them from electing their preferred candidates. The result of both practices is to "waste" Democrats' votes.

The harm of vote dilution, as this Court has long stated, is "individual and personal in nature." It arises when an election practice — most commonly, the drawing of district lines — devalues one citizen's vote as compared to others. Of course, such practices invariably affect more than one citizen at a time. For example, our original one-person, one-vote cases considered how malapportioned maps "contract[ed] the value" of urban citizens' votes while "expand[ing]" the value of rural citizens' votes. But we understood the injury as giving diminished weight to each particular vote, even if millions were so touched. In such cases, a voter living in an overpopulated district suffered "disadvantage to [herself] as [an] individual[]": Her vote counted for less than the votes of other citizens in her State. And that kind of disadvantage is what a plaintiff asserting a vote dilution claim — in the one-person, one-vote context or any other — always alleges.

To have standing to bring a partisan gerrymandering claim based on vote dilution, then, a plaintiff must prove that the value of her own vote has been "contract[ed]." And that entails showing, as the Court holds, that she lives in a district that has been either packed or cracked. For packing and cracking are the ways in which a partisan gerrymander dilutes votes. Consider the perfect form of each variety. When a voter resides in a packed district, her preferred candidate will win no matter what; when a voter lives in a cracked district, her chosen candidate stands no chance of prevailing. But either way, such a citizen's vote carries less weight — has less consequence — than it would under a neutrally drawn map. So when she shows that her district has been packed or cracked, she proves, as she must to establish standing, that she is "among the injured."

In many partisan gerrymandering cases, that threshold showing will not be hard to make. Among other ways of proving packing or cracking, a plaintiff could produce an alternative map (or set of alternative maps) — comparably consistent with traditional districting principles — under which her vote would carry more weight. For example, a Democratic plaintiff living in a 75%-Democratic district could prove she was packed by presenting a different map, drawn without a focus on partisan advantage, that would place her in a 60%-Democratic district. Or conversely, a Democratic plaintiff residing in a 35%-Democratic district could prove she was cracked by offering an alternative, neutrally drawn map putting her in a 50-50 district. The precise numbers are of no import. The point is that the plaintiff can show, through drawing alternative district lines, that partisan-based packing or cracking diluted her vote.

Here, the Court is right that the plaintiffs have so far failed to make such a showing. William Whitford was the only plaintiff to testify at trial about the alleged gerrymander's effects. He expressly acknowledged that his district would be materially identical under any conceivable map, whether or not drawn to achieve partisan advantage. That means Wisconsin's plan could not have diluted Whitford's own vote. So whatever other claims he might have, Whitford is not "among the injured" in a vote dilution challenge. Four other plaintiffs differed from Whitford by alleging in the complaint that they lived in packed or cracked districts. But for whatever reason, they failed to back up those allegations with evidence as the suit proceeded. So they too did not show the injury — a less valuable vote — central to their vote dilution theory.

#### 10 JUSTICIABILITY AND THE CASE OR CONROVERSY REQUIREMENT CH. 3

That problem, however, may be readily fixable. The Court properly remands this case to the District Court "so that the plaintiffs may have an opportunity" to "demonstrate a burden on their individual votes." That means the plaintiffs — both the four who initially made those assertions and any others (current or newly joined) — now can introduce evidence that their individual districts were packed or cracked. And if the plaintiffs' more general charges have a basis in fact, that evidence may well be at hand. Recall that the plaintiffs here alleged — and the District Court found — that a unified Republican government set out to ensure that Republicans would control as many State Assembly seats as possible over a decade (five consecutive election cycles). To that end, the government allegedly packed and cracked Democrats throughout the State, not just in a particular district or region. Assuming that is true, the plaintiffs should have a mass of packing and cracking proof, which they can now also present in district-by-district form to support their standing. In other words, a plaintiff residing in each affected district can show, through an alternative map or other evidence, that packing or cracking indeed occurred there. And if (or to the extent) that test is met, the court can proceed to decide all distinctive merits issues and award appropriate remedies.

When the court addresses those merits questions, it can consider statewide (as well as local) evidence. Of course, the court below and others like it are currently debating, without guidance from this Court, what elements make up a vote dilution claim in the partisan gerrymandering context. But assume that the plaintiffs must prove illicit partisan intent — a purpose to dilute Democrats' votes in drawing district lines. The plaintiffs could then offer evidence about the mapmakers' goals in formulating the entire statewide map (which would predictably carry down to individual districting decisions). So, for example, the plaintiffs here introduced proof that the mapmakers looked to partisan voting data when drawing districts throughout the State — and that they graded draft maps according to the amount of advantage those maps conferred on Republicans. This Court has explicitly recognized the relevance of such statewide evidence in addressing racial gerrymandering claims of a district-specific nature. "Voters," we held, "of course[] can present statewide evidence in order to prove racial gerrymandering in a particular district." And in particular, "[s]uch evidence is perfectly relevant" to showing that mapmakers had an invidious "motive" in drawing the lines of "multiple districts in the State." The same should be true for partisan gerrymandering.

Similarly, cases like this one might warrant a statewide remedy. Suppose that mapmakers pack or crack a critical mass of State Assembly districts all across the State to elect as many Republican politicians as possible. And suppose plaintiffs residing in those districts prevail in a suit challenging that gerrymander on a vote dilution theory. The plaintiffs might then receive exactly the relief sought in this case. To be sure, remedying each plaintiff's vote dilution injury "requires revising only such districts as are necessary to reshape [that plaintiff's] district — so that the [plaintiff] may be unpacked or uncracked, as the case may be." But with enough plaintiffs joined together — attacking all the packed and cracked districts in a statewide gerrymander — those obligatory revisions could amount to a wholesale restructuring of the State's districting plan. The Court recognizes as much. It states that a proper remedy in a vote dilution case "does not necessarily require restructuring all of the State's legislative districts." Not necessarily — but possibly. It all depends on how much redistricting is needed to cure all the packing and cracking that the mapmakers have done.

#### A. STANDING 11

II

Everything said so far relates only to suits alleging that a partisan gerrymander dilutes individual votes. That is the way the Court sees this litigation. And as I'll discuss, that is the most reasonable view. But partisan gerrymanders inflict other kinds of constitutional harm as well. Among those injuries, partisan gerrymanders may infringe the First Amendment rights of association held by parties, other political organizations, and their members. The plaintiffs here have sometimes pointed to that kind of harm. To the extent they meant to do so, and choose to do so on remand, their associational claim would occasion a different standing inquiry than the one in the Court's opinion.

Justice Kennedy explained the First Amendment associational injury deriving from a partisan gerrymander in his concurring opinion in *Vieth v. Jubelirer*, 541 U.S. 267 (2004). "Representative democracy," Justice Kennedy pointed out, is today "unimaginable without the ability of citizens to band together" to advance their political beliefs. That means significant "First Amendment concerns arise" when a State purposely "subject[s] a group of voters or their party to disfavored treatment." Such action "burden[s] a group of voters' representational rights." And it does so because of their "political association," "participation in the electoral process," "voting history," or "expression of political views."

As so formulated, the associational harm of a partisan gerrymander is distinct from vote dilution. Consider an active member of the Democratic Party in Wisconsin who resides in a district that a partisan gerrymander has left untouched (neither packed nor cracked). His individual vote carries no less weight than it did before. But if the gerrymander ravaged the party he works to support, then he indeed suffers harm, as do all other involved members of that party. This is the kind of "burden" to "a group of voters' representational rights" Justice Kennedy spoke of. Members of the "disfavored party" in the State, deprived of their natural political strength by a partisan gerrymander, may face difficulties fundraising, registering voters, attracting volunteers, generating support from independents, and recruiting candidates to run for office (not to mention eventually accomplishing their policy objectives). And what is true for party members may be doubly true for party officials and triply true for the party itself (or for related organizations). By placing a state party at an enduring electoral disadvantage, the gerrymander weakens its capacity to perform all its functions.

And if that is the essence of the harm alleged, then the standing analysis should differ from the one the Court applies. Standing, we have long held, "turns on the nature and source of the claim asserted." Indeed, that idea lies at the root of today's opinion. It is because the Court views the harm alleged as vote dilution that it (rightly) insists that each plaintiff show packing or cracking in her own district to establish her standing. But when the harm alleged is not district specific, the proof needed for standing should not be district specific either. And the associational injury flowing from a statewide partisan gerrymander, whether alleged by a party member or the party itself, has nothing to do with the packing or cracking of any single district's lines. The complaint in such a case is instead that the gerrymander has burdened the ability of like-minded people across the State to affiliate in a political party and carry out that organization's activities and objects. Because a plaintiff can have that complaint without living in a packed or cracked district, she need not show what the Court demands today for a vote dilution claim. Or said

otherwise: Because on this alternative theory, the valued association and the injury to it are statewide, so too is the relevant standing requirement.

On occasion, the plaintiffs here have indicated that they have an associational claim in mind. In addition to repeatedly alleging vote dilution, their complaint asserted in general terms that Wisconsin's districting plan infringes their "First Amendment right to freely associate with each other without discrimination by the State based on that association." Similarly, the plaintiffs noted before this Court that "[b]eyond diluting votes, partisan gerrymandering offends First Amendment values by penalizing citizens because of . . . their association with a political party." And finally, the plaintiffs' evidence of partisan asymmetry well fits a suit alleging associational injury (although, as noted below, that was not how it was used). As the Court points out, what those statistical metrics best measure is a gerrymander's effect "on the fortunes of political parties" and those associated with them.

In the end, though, I think the plaintiffs did not sufficiently advance a First Amendment associational theory to avoid the Court's holding on standing. Despite referring to that theory in their complaint, the plaintiffs tried this case as though it were about vote dilution alone. Their testimony and other evidence went toward establishing the effects of rampant packing and cracking on the value of individual citizens' votes. Even their proof of partisan asymmetry was used for that purpose — although as noted above, it could easily have supported the alternative theory of associational harm. The plaintiffs joining in this suit do not include the State Democratic Party (or any related statewide organization). They did not emphasize their membership in that party, or their activities supporting it. And they did not speak to any tangible associational burdens — ways the gerrymander had debilitated their party or weakened its ability to carry out its core functions and purposes. Even in this Court, when disputing the State's argument that they lacked standing, the plaintiffs reiterated their suit's core theory: that the gerrymander "intentionally, severely, durably, and unjustifiably Democratic votes." Given that theory, the plaintiffs needed to show that their own votes were indeed diluted in order to establish standing.

But nothing in the Court's opinion prevents the plaintiffs on remand from pursuing an associational claim, or from satisfying the different standing requirement that theory would entail. The Court's opinion is about a suit challenging a partisan gerrymander on a particular ground — that it dilutes the votes of individual citizens. That opinion "leave[s] for another day consideration of other possible theories of harm not presented here and whether those theories might present justiciable claims giving rise to statewide remedies." And in particular, it leaves for another day the theory of harm advanced by Justice Kennedy in Vieth: that a partisan gerrymander interferes with the vital "ability of citizens to band together" to further their political beliefs. Nothing about that injury is "generalized" or "abstract," as the Court says is true of the plaintiffs' dissatisfaction with the "overall composition of the legislature." A suit raising an associational theory complains of concrete "burdens on a disfavored party" and its members as they pursue their political interests and goals. And when the suit alleges that a gerrymander has imposed those burdens on a statewide basis, then its litigation should be statewide too — as to standing, liability, and remedy alike.

III \* \* \*

Because of the way this suit was litigated, I agree that the plaintiffs have so far failed to establish their standing to sue, and I fully concur in the Court's opinion. But of one thing we may unfortunately be sure. Courts — and in particular this Court — will again be called on to redress extreme partisan gerrymanders. I am hopeful we will then step up to our responsibility to vindicate the Constitution against a contrary law.

JUSTICE THOMAS, with whom JUSTICE GORSUCH joins, concurring in part and concurring in the judgment.

I join Parts I and II of the Court's opinion because I agree that the plaintiffs have failed to prove Article III standing. I do not join Part III, which gives the plaintiffs another chance to prove their standing on remand. When a plaintiff lacks standing, our ordinary practice is to remand the case with instructions to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction. The Court departs from our usual practice because this is supposedly "not the usual case." But there is nothing unusual about it. As the Court explains, the plaintiffs' lack of standing follows from long-established principles of law. After a year and a half of litigation in the District Court, including a 4-day trial, the plaintiffs had a more-than-ample opportunity to prove their standing under these principles. They failed to do so. Accordingly, I would have remanded this case with instructions to dismiss.

## Note: Standing to Challenge Partisan Gerrymandering

- 1. Is Justice Kagan correct that partisan gerrymandering inflicts harm on voters, regardless of whether the district in question has been packed or cracked? Which of the two possibilities, packing or cracking, presents a more compelling injury-in-fact under Article III?
- **2.** Does partisan gerrymandering inflict an associational harm sufficient to confer standing under Article III?
- **3.** What do you think about the majority's decision to allow the plaintiffs another chance to prove an injury on remand? Is the majority correct that the plaintiffs deserve another chance because this is an "unusual case"?
- **4.** In *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife* (Casebook p. 86) the Court states that the elements of Article III standing "must be supported in the same way as any other matter on which the plaintiff bears the burden of proof, *i.e.*, with the manner and degree of evidence required at the successive stages of the litigation." What, if anything, can we learn from *Gill* about what plaintiffs must do to satisfy their burden?

#### Virginia House of Delegates v. Bethune-Hill

Supreme Court of the United States, 2019. 139 S. Ct. 1945 (2019).

JUSTICE GINSBURG delivered the opinion of the Court.

The Court resolves in this opinion a question of standing to appeal. In 2011, after the 2010 census, Virginia redrew legislative districts for the State's Senate and House of Delegates. Voters in 12 of the impacted House districts sued two Virginia state agencies and four election officials (collectively, State Defendants) charging that the redrawn districts were racially gerrymandered in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment's Equal Protection Clause. The Virginia House of

#### 14 JUSTICIABILITY AND THE CASE OR CONROVERSY REQUIREMENT CH. 3

Delegates and its Speaker (collectively, the House) intervened as defendants and carried the laboring oar in urging the constitutionality of the challenged districts at a bench trial, on appeal to this Court, and at a second bench trial. In June 2018, after the second bench trial, a three-judge District Court in the Eastern District of Virginia, dividing 2 to 1, held that in 11 of the districts "the [S]tate ha[d] [unconstitutionally] sorted voters... based on the color of their skin." Bethune-Hill v. Virginia State Bd. of Elections, 326 F. Supp. 3d 128 (2018). The court therefore enjoined Virginia "from conducting any elections... for the office of Delegate... in the Challenged Districts until a new redistricting plan is adopted." Recognizing the General Assembly's "primary jurisdiction" over redistricting, the District Court gave the General Assembly approximately four months to "adop[t] a new redistricting plan that eliminate[d] the constitutional infirmity."

A few weeks after the three-judge District Court's ruling, Virginia's Attorney General announced, both publicly and in a filing with the District Court, that the State would not pursue an appeal to this Court. Continuing the litigation, the Attorney General concluded, "would not be in the best interest of the Commonwealth or its citizens." The House, however, filed an appeal to this Court, which the State Defendants moved to dismiss for want of standing. We postponed probable jurisdiction, and now grant the State Defendants' motion. The House, we hold, lacks authority to displace Virginia's Attorney General as representative of the State. We further hold that the House, as a single chamber of a bicameral legislature, has no standing to appeal the invalidation of the redistricting plan separately from the State of which it is a part.

Ι

To reach the merits of a case, an Article III court must have jurisdiction. "One essential aspect of this requirement is that any person invoking the power of a federal court must demonstrate standing to do so." Hollingsworth v. Perry, 570 U.S. 693 (2013). The three elements of standing, this Court has reiterated, are (1) a concrete and particularized injury, that (2) is fairly traceable to the challenged conduct, and (3) is likely to be redressed by a favorable decision. Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555 (1992). Although rulings on standing often turn on a plaintiff's stake in initially filing suit, "Article III demands that an 'actual controversy' persist throughout all stages of litigation." Hollingsworth (quoting Already, LLC v. Nike, Inc., 568 U.S. 85 (2013)). The standing requirement therefore "must be met by persons seeking appellate review, just as it must be met by persons appearing in courts of first instance." Arizonans for Official English v. Arizona, 520 U.S. 43 (1997). As a jurisdictional requirement, standing to litigate cannot be waived or forfeited. And when standing is questioned by a court or an opposing party, the litigant invoking the court's jurisdiction must do more than simply allege a nonobvious harm. To cross the standing threshold, the litigant must explain how the elements essential to standing are met.

Before the District Court, the House participated in both bench trials as an intervenor in support of the State Defendants. And in the prior appeal to this Court, the House participated as an appellee. Because neither role entailed invoking a court's jurisdiction, it was not previously incumbent on the House to demonstrate its standing. That situation changed when the House alone endeavored to appeal from the District Court's order holding 11 districts unconstitutional, thereby seeking to invoke this Court's jurisdiction. As the Court has repeatedly recognized, to appeal a decision that the primary party does not

challenge, an intervenor must independently demonstrate standing. *Diamond v. Charles*, 476 U.S. 54 (1986). We find unconvincing the House's arguments that it has standing, either to represent the State's interests or in its own right.

II A

The House urges first that it has standing to represent the State's interests. Of course, "a State has standing to defend the constitutionality of its statute." No doubt, then, the State itself could press this appeal. And, as this Court has held, "a State must be able to designate agents to represent it in federal court." *Hollingsworth*. So if the State had designated the House to represent its interests, and if the House had in fact carried out that mission, we would agree that the House could stand in for the State. Neither precondition, however, is met here.

To begin with, the House has not identified any legal basis for its claimed authority to litigate on the State's behalf. Authority and responsibility for representing the State's interests in civil litigation, Virginia law prescribes, rest exclusively with the State's Attorney General:

All legal service in civil matters for the Commonwealth, the Governor, and every state department, institution, division, commission, board, bureau, agency, entity, official, court, or judge... shall be rendered and performed by the Attorney General, except [for certain judicial misconduct proceedings and other circumstances not present here]. VA. CODE ANN. § 2.2-507(A) (2017).

Virginia has thus chosen to speak as a sovereign entity with a single voice. In this regard, the State has adopted an approach resembling that of the Federal Government, which "centraliz[es]" the decision whether to seek certiorari by "reserving litigation in this Court to the Attorney General and the Solicitor General." *United States v. Providence Journal Co.*, 485 U.S. 693 (1988) (dismissing a writ of certiorari sought by a special prosecutor without authorization from the Solicitor General);  $see\ 28\ U.S.C.\ 518(a);\ 28\ C.F.R.\ 90.20(a)$  (2018). Virginia, had it so chosen, could have authorized the House to litigate on the State's behalf, either generally or in a defined class of cases. *Hollingsworth*. Some States have done just that. Indiana, for example, empowers "[t]he House of Representatives and Senate of the Indiana General Assembly . . . to employ attorneys other than the Attorney General to defend any law enacted creating legislative or congressional districts for the State of Indiana." IND. CODE \ 2-3-8-1 (2011). But the choice belongs to Virginia, and the House's argument that it has authority to represent the State's interests is foreclosed by the State's contrary decision.

The House observes that Virginia state courts have permitted it to intervene to defend legislation. But the sole case the House cites on this point — Vesilind v. Virginia State Bd. of Elections, 295 Va. 427 (2018) — does not bear the weight the House would place upon it. In Vesilind, the House intervened in support of defendants in the trial court, and continued to defend the trial court's favorable judgment on appeal. The House's participation in Vesilind thus occurred in the same defensive posture as did the House's participation in earlier phases of this case, when the House did not need to establish standing. Moreover, the House has pointed to nothing in the Virginia courts' decisions in the Vesilind litigation suggesting that the courts understood the House to be representing the interests of the State itself.

#### 16 JUSTICIABILITY AND THE CASE OR CONROVERSY REQUIREMENT CH. 3

Nonetheless, the House insists, this Court's decision in *Karcher v. May*, 484 U.S. 72 (1987), dictates that we treat *Vesilind* as establishing conclusively the House's authority to litigate on the State's behalf. True, in *Karcher*, the Court noted a record, similar to that in *Vesilind*, of litigation by state legislative bodies in state court, and concluded without extensive explanation that "the New Jersey Legislature had authority under state law to represent the State's interests...." Of crucial significance, however, the Court in *Karcher* noted no New Jersey statutory provision akin to Virginia's law vesting the Attorney General with exclusive authority to speak for the Commonwealth in civil litigation. *Karcher* therefore scarcely impels the conclusion that, despite Virginia's clear enactment making the Attorney General the State's sole representative in civil litigation, Virginia has designated the House as its agent to assert the State's interests in this Court.

Moreover, even if, contrary to the governing statute, we indulged the assumption that Virginia had authorized the House to represent the State's interests, as a factual matter the House never indicated in the District Court that it was appearing in that capacity. Throughout this litigation, the House has purported to represent its own interests. Thus, in its motion to intervene, the House observed that it was "the legislative body that actually drew the redistricting plan at issue," and argued that the existing parties — including the State Defendants — could not adequately protect its interests. Nowhere in its motion did the House suggest it was intervening as agent of the State.... [See Karcher] (parties may not appeal in particular capacities "unless the record shows that they participated in those capacities below").

В

The House also maintains that, even if it lacks standing to pursue this appeal as the State's agent, it has standing in its own right. To support standing, an injury must be "legally and judicially cognizable." *Raines v. Byrd*, 521 U.S. 811 (1997). This Court has never held that a judicial decision invalidating a state law as unconstitutional inflicts a discrete, cognizable injury on each organ of government that participated in the law's passage. The Court's precedent thus lends no support for the notion that one House of a bicameral legislature, resting solely on its role in the legislative process, may appeal on its own behalf a judgment invalidating a state enactment.

Seeking to demonstrate its asserted injury, the House emphasizes its role in enacting redistricting legislation in particular. The House observes that, under Virginia law, "members of the Senate and of the House of Delegates of the General Assembly shall be elected from electoral districts established by the General Assembly." VA. CONST. art. 2, § 6. The House has standing, it contends, because it is "the legislative body that actually drew the redistricting plan," and because, the House asserts, any remedial order will transfer redistricting authority from it to the District Court. But the Virginia constitutional provision the House cites allocates redistricting authority to the "General Assembly," of which the House constitutes only a part.

That fact distinguishes this case from *Arizona State Legislature v. Arizona Independent Redistricting Comm'n*, 135 S. Ct. 2652 (2015), in which the Court recognized the standing of the Arizona House and Senate — *acting together*— to challenge a referendum that gave redistricting authority exclusively to an independent commission, thereby allegedly usurping the legislature's authority

under the Federal Constitution over congressional redistricting. In contrast to this case, in *Arizona State Legislature* there was no mismatch between the body seeking to litigate and the body to which the relevant constitutional provision allegedly assigned exclusive redistricting authority. Just as individual members lack standing to assert the institutional interests of a legislature, see *Raines*, a single House of a bicameral legislature lacks capacity to assert interests belonging to the legislature as a whole.

Moreover, in *Arizona State Legislature*, the challenged referendum was assailed on the ground that it *permanently* deprived the legislative plaintiffs of their role in the redistricting process. Here, by contrast, the challenged order does not alter the General Assembly's dominant initiating and ongoing role in redistricting. *Compare Arizona State Legislature* (allegation of nullification of "any vote by the Legislature, now or in the future, purporting to adopt a redistricting plan" (internal quotation marks omitted)), with 326 F. Supp. 3d at 227 (recognizing the General Assembly's "primary jurisdiction" over redistricting and giving the General Assembly first crack at enacting a revised redistricting plan).

Nor does *Coleman v. Miller*, 307 U.S. 433 (1939), aid the House. There, the Court recognized the standing of 20 state legislators who voted against a resolution ratifying the proposed Child Labor Amendment to the Federal Constitution. The resolution passed, the opposing legislators stated, only because the Lieutenant Governor cast a tie-breaking vote — a procedure the legislators argued was impermissible under Article V of the Federal Constitution. As the Court has since observed, *Coleman* stands "at most" "for the proposition that legislators whose votes would have been sufficient to defeat (or enact) a specific legislative Act have standing to sue if that legislative action goes into effect (or does not go into effect), on the ground that their votes have been completely nullified." *Raines*. Nothing of that sort happened here. Unlike *Coleman*, this case does not concern the results of a legislative chamber's poll or the validity of any counted or uncounted vote. At issue here, instead, is the constitutionality of a concededly enacted redistricting plan. As we have already explained, a single House of a bicameral legislature generally lacks standing to appeal in cases of this order.

Aside from its role in enacting the invalidated redistricting plan, the House, echoed by the dissent, asserts that the House has standing because altered district boundaries may affect its composition. For support, the House and the dissent rely on *Sixty-seventh Minnesota State Senate v. Beens*, 406 U.S. 187 (1972) (*per curiam*), in which this Court allowed the Minnesota Senate to challenge a District Court malapportionment litigation order that reduced the Senate's size from 67 to 35 members. The Court said in *Beens*: "[C]ertainly the [Minnesota Senate] is directly affected by the District Court's orders," rendering the Senate "an appropriate legal entity for purpose of intervention and, as a consequence, of an appeal in a case of this kind."

Beens predated this Court's decisions in Diamond v. Charles and other cases holding that intervenor status alone is insufficient to establish standing to appeal. Whether Beens established law on the question of standing, as distinct from intervention, is thus less than pellucid. But even assuming, arguendo, that Beens was, and remains, binding precedent on standing, the order there at issue injured the Minnesota Senate in a way the order challenged here does not injure the Virginia House. Cutting the size of a legislative chamber in half would necessarily alter its day-to-day operations. Among other things, leadership selection,

committee structures, and voting rules would likely require alteration. By contrast, although redrawing district lines indeed may affect the membership of the chamber, the House as an institution has no cognizable interest in the identity of its members. Although the House urges that changes to district lines will "profoundly disrupt its day-to-day operations," it is scarcely obvious how or why that is so. As the party invoking this Court's jurisdiction, the House bears the burden of doing more than "simply alleg[ing] a nonobvious harm."

Analogizing to "group[s] other than a legislative body," the dissent insists that the House has suffered an "obvious" injury. But groups like the string quartet and basketball team posited by the dissent select their own members. Similarly, the political parties involved in the cases the dissent cites, see *New York State Bd. of Elections v. Lopez Torres*, 552 U.S. 196 (2008), and *Eu v. San Francisco County Democratic Central Comm.*, 489 U.S. 214 (1989)), select their own leadership and candidates. In stark contrast, the House does not select its own members. Instead, it is a representative body composed of members chosen by the people. Changes to its membership brought about by the voting public thus inflict no cognizable injury on the House.

The House additionally asserts injury from the creation of what it calls "divided constituencies," suggesting that a court order causing legislators to seek reelection in districts different from those they currently represent affects the House's representational nature. But legislative districts change frequently indeed, after every decennial census — and the Virginia Constitution resolves any confusion over which district is being represented. It provides that delegates continue to represent the districts that elected them, even if their reelection campaigns will be waged in different districts. VA. CONST., art. 2, § 6 ("A member in office at the time that a decennial redistricting law is enacted shall complete his term of office and shall continue to represent the district from which he was elected for the duration of such term of office . . . . "). We see little reason why the same would not hold true after districting changes caused by judicial decisions, and we thus foresee no representational confusion. And if harms centered on costlier or more difficult election campaigns are cognizable — a question that . . . we need not decide today — those harms would be suffered by individual legislators or candidates, not by the House as a body.

In short, Virginia would rather stop than fight on. One House of its bicameral legislature cannot alone continue the litigation against the will of its partners in the legislative process.

\* \* \*

For the reasons stated, we dismiss the House's appeal for lack of jurisdiction.

It is so ordered.

JUSTICE ALITO, with whom THE CHIEF JUSTICE, JUSTICE BREYER, and JUSTICE KAVANAUGH join, dissenting.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The dissent urges that changes to district lines will alter the House's future legislative output. A legislative chamber as an institution, however, suffers no legally cognizable injury from changes to the *content* of legislation its future members may elect to enact. By contrast, the House has an obvious institutional interest in the *manner* in which it goes about its business.

I would hold that the Virginia House of Delegates has standing to take this appeal. The Court disagrees for two reasons: first, because Virginia law does not authorize the House to defend the invalidated redistricting plan on behalf of the Commonwealth, and, second, because the imposition of the District Court's districting plan would not cause the House the kind of harm required by Article III of the Constitution. I am convinced that the second holding is wrong and therefore will not address the first.

T

Our decision in *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555 (1992), identified the three elements that constitute the "irreducible constitutional minimum of standing" demanded by Article III. A party invoking the jurisdiction of a federal court must have "(1) suffered an injury in fact, (2) that is fairly traceable to the challenged conduct of the defendant, and (3) that is likely to be redressed by a favorable judicial decision." *Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins*, 136 S. Ct. 1540 (2016). The Virginia House of Delegates satisfies all those requirements in this case.

I begin with "injury in fact." It is clear, in my judgment, that the new districting plan ordered by the lower court will harm the House in a very fundamental way. A legislative districting plan powerfully affects a legislative body's output of work. Each legislator represents a particular district, and each district contains a particular set of constituents with particular interests and views. The interests and views of these constituents generally have an important effect on everything that a legislator does — meeting with the representatives of organizations and groups seeking the legislator's help in one way or another, drafting and sponsoring bills, pushing for and participating in hearings, writing or approving reports, and of course, voting. When the boundaries of a district are changed, the constituents and communities of interest present within the district are altered, and this is likely to change the way in which the district's representative does his or her work. And while every individual voter will end up being represented by a legislator no matter which districting plan is ultimately used, it matters a lot how voters with shared interests and views are concentrated or split up. The cumulative effects of all the decisions that go into a districting plan have an important impact on the overall work of the body.

All of this should really go without saying. After all, it is precisely because of the connections between the way districts are drawn, the composition of a legislature, and the things that a legislature does that so much effort is invested in drawing, contesting, and defending districting plans. Districting matters because it has institutional and legislative consequences. To suggest otherwise, to argue that substituting one plan for another has no effect on the work or output of the legislative body whose districts are changed, would really be quite astounding. If the selection of a districting plan did not alter what the legislative body does, why would there be such pitched battles over redistricting efforts?

What the Court says on this point is striking. According to the Court, "the House as an institution has no cognizable interest in the identity of its members," and thus suffers no injury from the imposition of a districting plan that "may affect the membership of the chamber" or the "content of legislation its future members may elect to enact." Really? It seems obvious that any group consisting of members who must work together to achieve the group's aims has a keen interest in the identity of its members, and it follows that the group also has a strong

interest in how its members are selected. And what is more important to such a group than the content of its work?

Apply what the Court says to a group other than a legislative body and it is immediately obvious that the Court is wrong. Does a string quartet have an interest in the identity of its cellist? Does a basketball team have an interest in the identity of its point guard? Does a board of directors have an interest in the identity of its chairperson? Does it matter to these groups how their members are selected? Do these groups care if the selection method affects their performance? Of course.

The Virginia House of Delegates exists for a purpose: to represent and serve the interests of the people of the Commonwealth. The way in which its members are selected has a powerful effect on how it goes about this purpose<sup>1</sup>— a proposition reflected by the Commonwealth's choice to mandate certain districting criteria in its constitution. See VA. CONST., art. II, § 6. As far as the House's standing, we must assume that the districting plan enacted by the legislature embodies the House's judgment regarding the method of selecting members that best enables it to serve the people of the Commonwealth. (Whether this is a permissible judgment is a merits question, not a question of standing. Cf. Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490 (1975)). It therefore follows that discarding that plan and substituting another inflicts injury in fact.

Our most pertinent precedent supports the standing of the House on this ground. In Sixty-seventh Minnesota State Senate v. Beens, 406 U.S. 187 (1972) (per curiam), we held that the Minnesota Senate had standing to appeal a district court order reapportioning the Senate's seats. In reaching that conclusion, we noted that "certainly" such an order "directly affected" the Senate. The same is true here. There can be no doubt that the new districting plan "directly affect[s]" the House whose districts it redefines and whose legislatively drawn districts have been replaced with a court-ordered map. That the Beens Court drew its "directly affect[s]" language from a case involving a standard reapportionment challenge, see Silver v. Jordan, 241 F. Supp. 576 (S.D. Cal. 1964) (per curiam), aff'd, 381 U.S. 415 (1965) (per curiam), only serves to confirm that the House's injury is sufficient to demonstrate standing under Beens.

In an effort to distinguish *Beens*, it is argued that the District Court decision at issue there, which slashed the number of senators in half, "ha[d] a distinct and more direct effect on the body itself than a mere shift in district lines." But even if the effect of the court order was greater in *Beens* than it is here, it is the existence — not the extent — of an injury that matters for purposes of Article III standing.

The Court suggests that the effects of the court-ordered districting plan in *Beens* were different from the effects of the plan now before us because the former concerned the legislature's internal operations. But even if the imposition of the court-ordered plan in this case would not affect the internal operations of the House (and that is by no means clear), it is very strange to think that changes to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court has not hesitated to recognize this link in other contexts. See, *e.g.*, *New York State Bd. of Elections v. Lopez Torres*, 552 U.S. 196 (2008); *Eu v. San Francisco County Democratic Central Comm.*, 489 U.S. 214 (1989).

such things as "committee structures" and "voting rules" are more important than changes in legislative output.

In short, the invalidation of the House's redistricting plan and its replacement with a court-ordered map would cause the House to suffer a "concrete" injury. And as Article III demands, see *Spokeo*, that injury would also be "particularized" (because it would target the House); "imminent" (because it would certainly occur if this appeal is dismissed); "traceable" to the imposition of the new, court-ordered plan; and "redress[able]" by the relief the House seeks here.

Π

Although the opinion of the Court begins by citing the three fundamental Article III standing requirements just discussed, it is revealing that the Court never asserts that the effect of the court-ordered plan at issue would not cause the House "concrete" harm. Instead, the Court claims only that any harm would not be "judicially cognizable." The Court lifts this term from *Raines v. Byrd*, 521 U.S. 811 (1997), where the Court held that individual Members of *Congress* lacked standing to challenge the constitutionality of the Line Item Veto Act. But the decision in *Raines* rested heavily on federal separation-of-powers concerns, which are notably absent here. *See id.* (Souter, J., concurring in judgment). And although the Court does not say so expressly, what I take from its use of the term "judicially cognizable" injury rather than "concrete" injury is that the decision here is not really based on the *Lujan* factors, which set out the "irreducible" minimum demanded by Article III. Instead, the argument seems to be that the House's injury is insufficient for some other, only-hinted-at reason.

Both the United States, appearing as an *amicus*, and the Commonwealth of Virginia are more explicit. The Solicitor General's brief argues as follows:

In the federal system, the Constitution gives Congress only "legislative Powers," U.S. CONST., art. 1, § 1, and the "power to seek judicial relief... cannot possibly be regarded as merely in aid of the legislative function." *Buckley v. Valeo*, 424 U.S. 1 (1976) (per curiam). As a result, "once Congress makes its choice in enacting legislation, its participation ends." *Bowsher v. Synar*, 478 U.S. 714 (1986).... *The same is true here.* A branch of a state government that makes rather than enforces the law does not itself have a cognizable Article III interest in the defense of its laws." Brief for United States as *Amicus Curiae* (emphasis added).

The Virginia Solicitor General makes a similar argument.

These arguments are seriously flawed because the States are under no obligation to follow the Federal Constitution's model when it comes to the separation of powers. See Whalen v. United States, 445 U.S. 684 (1980); cf. Raines. If one House of Congress or one or more Members of Congress attempt to invoke the power of a federal court, the court must consider whether this attempt is consistent with the structure created by the Federal Constitution. An interest asserted by a Member of Congress or by one or both Houses of Congress that is inconsistent with that structure may not be judicially cognizable. But I do not see how we can say anything similar about the standing of state legislators or state

#### 22 JUSTICIABILITY AND THE CASE OR CONROVERSY REQUIREMENT CH. 3

legislative bodies.<sup>2</sup> *Cf. Karcher v. May,* 484 U.S. 72 (1987). The separation of powers (or the lack thereof) under a state constitution is purely a matter of state law, and neither the Court nor the Virginia Solicitor General has provided any support for the proposition that Virginia law bars the House from defending, in its own right, the constitutionality of a districting plan.

\* \* \*

For these reasons, I would hold that the House of Delegates has standing, and I therefore respectfully dissent.

## Note: Standing to Appeal and Legislative Standing

- 1. As the Court explains in *Virginia House of Delegates*, an appellant who seeks review from a federal court must establish standing to appeal, just as a plaintiff who initially files an action federal court must establish standing to sue. Ordinarily, a party that loses in district court has little difficulty establishing standing to appeal. Can you explain why that is so? In an ordinary case, what injury gives a losing plaintiff, or a losing defendant, standing to appeal from the judgment of a district court to a court of appeals or to the U.S. Supreme Court?
- 2. In Virginia House of Delegates, standing to appeal was contested because the state officials who were named as defendants, represented by the state attorney general, elected not to appeal from the adverse judgment. Instead, an appeal was taken by a house of the state legislature, which had intervened as a defendant in the district court. That is no accident. Many of the Court's cases on appellate standing have arisen when state officials refuse to defend a law against constitutional attack, or refuse to take an appeal after suffering a loss. See Hollingsworth v. Perry, 570 U.S. 693 (2013) (appeal by official sponsors of statewide ballot measure prohibiting same-sex marriage); Diamond v. Charles, 476 U.S. 54 (1986) (appeal by physician personally opposed to abortion); Bender v. Williamsport Area Sch. Dist., 475 U.S. 534 (1986) (appeal by single member of a school board).

Why do you suppose state attorneys general acquiesce in constitutional challenges to state law? Are there good reasons why state officials might decline to appeal after suffering a loss in federal district court? Are there bad reasons? In *Virginia House of Delegates*, the state attorney general who declined to appeal was a Democrat, while the legislative body that drew the map and sought to appeal was controlled by Republicans. Should that matter?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court's observation that the Virginia Constitution gives legislative districting authority to the General Assembly as a whole — in other words, to the House of Delegates and the Senate in combination — does not answer the question. To start, a similar argument against standing was pressed and rejected in *Sixty-seventh Minnesota State Senate* and the Court does not explain why a different outcome is warranted here. Nor am I persuaded by the Court's citation of *Arizona State Legislature v. Arizona Independent Redistricting Comm'n*, 135 S. Ct. 2652 (2015). There, the Court held that the Arizona Legislature had standing to bring a suit aimed at protecting its redistricting authority. But from the fact that a whole legislature may have standing to defend its redistricting authority, it does not follow that the House necessarily lacks standing to challenge a redistricting decision based on concrete injuries to its institutional interests. *Cf. Spokeo, Inc.* 

**3.** As the Court observes, some states have chosen to centralize the representation of the state and its agencies and officials in a single attorney general in the executive branch. But others, including Indiana, by statute authorize the state legislature to defend state laws in some circumstances. Should states enact laws that designate a "pinch hitter," authorized to defend laws and take appeals when the attorney general refuses? And if so, should the state legislature perform that function?

In answering those questions, consider that most state attorneys general (including Virginia's) are elected officials, like state legislators. That means that the office charged with defending a state law may be held by someone who, for policy or political reasons, vigorously opposes it. At the same time, fully litigating a constitutional challenge in federal court may take many years. Intervening elections may entrust the defense of state law to an individual from a different party, or may flip the party composition of a state legislature, or may leave a bicameral legislature divided. How should states define who can litigate on behalf of the state, and thus who has standing to appeal, in the face of that uncertainty?

4. The majority and dissent in *Virginia House of Delegates* disagree about the Court's precedents concerning legislative standing. Before the decision, the case law might have been summarized as follows: (1) state legislatures have standing to assert injuries to the legislature as an institution, *Arizona State Legislature v. Arizona Indep. Redistricting Comm'n*, 135 S. Ct. 2652 (2015); and (2) individual legislators have standing to assert an injury when their votes were "completely nullified" because legislation did or did not go into effect, *Coleman v. Miller*, 307 U.S. 433 (1939); but (3) individual members of a legislature do not have standing to assert injuries to the legislature as a whole, *Raines v. Byrd*, 521 U.S. 811 (1997). After *Virginia House of Delegates*, can you articulate when legislative standing is available? What would be the advantages and disadvantages of expanding legislative standing? Are there some types of cases in which looser rules for legislative standing would be especially valuable, or especially costly?

#### D. The Political Question Doctrine

Page 166: omit Note 5 and replace with the following principal case:

#### Rucho v. Common Cause

Supreme Court of the United States, 2019. 139 S. Ct. 2484 (2019).

CHIEF JUSTICE ROBERTS delivered the opinion of the Court.

Voters and other plaintiffs in North Carolina and Maryland challenged their States' congressional districting maps as unconstitutional partisan gerrymanders. The North Carolina plaintiffs complained that the State's districting plan discriminated against Democrats; the Maryland plaintiffs complained that their State's plan discriminated against Republicans. The plaintiffs' [main allegation is] that the gerrymandering violated the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. The District Courts in both cases ruled in favor of the plaintiffs, and the defendants appealed directly to this Court.

These cases require us to consider once again whether claims of excessive partisanship in districting are "justiciable" — that is, properly suited for resolution by the federal courts. This Court has not previously struck down a districting plan as an unconstitutional partisan gerrymander, and has struggled without success

#### 24 JUSTICIABILITY AND THE CASE OR CONROVERSY REQUIREMENT CH. 3

over the past several decades to discern judicially manageable standards for deciding such claims. The districting plans at issue here are highly partisan, by any measure. The question is whether the courts below appropriately exercised judicial power when they found them unconstitutional as well.

I A

The first case involves a challenge to the congressional redistricting plan enacted by the Republican-controlled North Carolina General Assembly in 2016. The Republican legislators leading the redistricting effort instructed their mapmaker to use political data to draw a map that would produce a congressional delegation of ten Republicans and three Democrats. As one of the two Republicans chairing the redistricting committee stated, "I think electing Republicans is better than electing Democrats. So I drew this map to help foster what I think is better for the country." He further explained that the map was drawn with the aim of electing ten Republicans and three Democrats because he did "not believe it [would be] possible to draw a map with 11 Republicans and 2 Democrats." One Democratic state senator objected that entrenching the 10-3 advantage for Republicans was not "fair, reasonable, [or] balanced" because, as recently as 2012, "Democratic congressional candidates had received more votes on a statewide basis than Republican candidates." The General Assembly was not swayed by that objection and approved the 2016 Plan by a party-line vote.

In November 2016, North Carolina conducted congressional elections using the 2016 Plan, and Republican candidates won 10 of the 13 congressional districts. In the 2018 elections, Republican candidates won nine congressional districts, while Democratic candidates won three. This litigation began in August 2016, when the North Carolina Democratic Party, Common Cause (a nonprofit organization), and 14 individual North Carolina voters sued the two lawmakers who had led the redistricting effort and other state defendants in Federal District Court.

D

The second case before us is Lamone v. Benisek. In 2011, the Maryland Legislature — dominated by Democrats — undertook to redraw the lines of that State's eight congressional districts. The Governor at the time, Democrat Martin O'Malley, led the process. He appointed a redistricting committee to help redraw the map, and asked Congressman Steny Hoyer, who has described himself as a "serial gerrymanderer," to advise the committee. The Governor later testified that his aim was to "use the redistricting process to change the overall composition of Maryland's congressional delegation to 7 Democrats and 1 Republican by flipping" one district. "[A] decision was made to go for the Sixth," which had been held by a Republican for nearly two decades. To achieve the required equal population among districts, only about 10,000 residents needed to be removed from that district. The 2011 Plan accomplished that by moving roughly 360,000 voters out of the Sixth District and moving 350,000 new voters in. Overall, the Plan reduced the number of registered Republicans in the Sixth District by about 66,000 and increased the number of registered Democrats by about 24,000. The map was adopted by a party-line vote. It was used in the 2012 election and succeeded in flipping the Sixth District. A Democrat has held the seat ever since.

II A

...In these cases we are asked to decide an important question of constitutional law. "But before we do so, we must find that the question is presented in a 'case' or 'controversy' that is, in James Madison's words, 'of a Judiciary Nature.'"

Chief Justice Marshall famously wrote that it is "the province and duty of the judicial department to say what the law is." Sometimes, however, "the law is that the judicial department has no business entertaining the claim of unlawfulness — because the question is entrusted to one of the political branches or involves no judicially enforceable rights." *Vieth v. Jubelirer*, 541 U.S. 267 (2004) (plurality opinion). In such a case the claim is said to present a "political question" and to be nonjusticiable — outside the courts' competence and therefore beyond the courts' jurisdiction. Among the political question cases the Court has identified are those that lack "judicially discoverable and manageable standards for resolving [them]."

... The question here is whether there is an "appropriate role for the Federal Judiciary" in remedying the problem of partisan gerrymandering — whether such claims are claims of *legal* right, resolvable according to *legal* principles, or political questions that must find their resolution elsewhere. *Gill v. Whitford*, 138 S. Ct. 1916 (2018).

R

Partisan gerrymandering is nothing new. Nor is frustration with it. The practice was known in the Colonies prior to Independence, and the Framers were familiar with it at the time of the drafting and ratification of the Constitution. During the very first congressional elections, George Washington and his Federalist allies accused Patrick Henry of trying to gerrymander Virginia's districts against their candidates — in particular James Madison, who ultimately prevailed over fellow future President James Monroe.

In 1812, Governor of Massachusetts and future Vice President Elbridge Gerry notoriously approved congressional districts that the legislature had drawn to aid the Democratic-Republican Party. The moniker "gerrymander" was born when an outraged Federalist newspaper observed that one of the misshapen districts resembled a salamander. "By 1840, the gerrymander was a recognized force in party politics and was generally attempted in all legislation enacted for the formation of election districts. It was generally conceded that each party would attempt to gain power which was not proportionate to its numerical strength."

The Framers addressed the election of Representatives to Congress in the Elections Clause. Art. I, § 4, cl. 1. That provision assigns to state legislatures the power to prescribe the "Times, Places and Manner of holding Elections" for Members of Congress, while giving Congress the power to "make or alter" any such regulations. Congress has regularly exercised its Elections Clause power, including to address partisan gerrymandering. The Apportionment Act of 1842, which required single-member districts for the first time, specified that those districts be "composed of contiguous territory," in "an attempt to forbid the practice of the gerrymander." Congress also used its Elections Clause power in 1870, enacting the first comprehensive federal statute dealing with elections as a way to enforce the Fifteenth Amendment. Starting in the 1950s, Congress enacted

a series of laws to protect the right to vote through measures such as the suspension of literacy tests and the prohibition of English-only elections.

Appellants suggest that, through the Elections Clause, the Framers set aside electoral issues such as the one before us as questions that only Congress can resolve. We do not agree. In two areas — one-person, one-vote and racial gerrymandering — our cases have held that there is a role for the courts with respect to at least some issues that could arise from a State's drawing of congressional districts.

But the history is not irrelevant. The Framers were aware of electoral districting problems and considered what to do about them. They settled on a characteristic approach, assigning the issue to the state legislatures, expressly checked and balanced by the Federal Congress. At no point was there a suggestion that the federal courts had a role to play. Nor was there any indication that the Framers had ever heard of courts doing such a thing.

(

Courts have nevertheless been called upon to resolve a variety of questions surrounding districting. Early on, doubts were raised about the competence of the federal courts to resolve those questions.

In the leading case of *Baker v. Carr*, 369 U.S. 186 (1962), voters in Tennessee complained that the State's districting plan for state representatives "debase[d]" their votes, because the plan was predicated on a 60-year-old census that no longer reflected the distribution of population in the State. The plaintiffs argued that votes of people in overpopulated districts held less value than those of people in less-populated districts, and that this inequality violated the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. This Court identified various considerations relevant to determining whether a claim is a nonjusticiable political question, including whether there is "a lack of judicially discoverable and manageable standards for resolving it." The Court concluded that the claim of population inequality among districts did not fall into that category, because such a claim could be decided under basic equal protection principles.

Another line of challenges to districting plans has focused on race. Laws that explicitly discriminate on the basis of race, as well as those that are race neutral on their face but are unexplainable on grounds other than race, are of course presumptively invalid. The Court applied those principles to electoral boundaries in *Gomillion v. Lightfoot*, 364 U.S. 339 (1960), concluding that a challenge to an "uncouth twenty-eight sided" municipal boundary line that excluded black voters from city elections stated a constitutional claim.

Partisan gerrymandering claims have proved far more difficult to adjudicate. The basic reason is that, while it is illegal for a jurisdiction to depart from the one-person, one-vote rule, or to engage in racial discrimination in districting, "a jurisdiction may engage in constitutional political gerrymandering." *Hunt v. Cromartie*, 526 U.S. 541 (1999) [citing four decisions along with *Gaffney v. Cummings*, 412 U.S. 735 (1973), which recognized that "[p]olitics and political considerations are inseparable from districting and apportionment"].

To hold that legislators cannot take partisan interests into account when drawing district lines would essentially countermand the Framers' decision to entrust districting to political entities. The "central problem" is not determining

27

whether a jurisdiction has engaged in partisan gerrymandering. It is "determining when political gerrymandering has gone too far." *Vieth* (plurality opinion).

\* \* \*

A

In considering whether partisan gerrymandering claims are justiciable, we are mindful of Justice Kennedy's counsel in *Vieth*: Any standard for resolving such claims must be grounded in a "limited and precise rationale" and be "clear, manageable, and politically neutral." An important reason for those careful constraints is that, "[t]he opportunity to control the drawing of electoral boundaries through the legislative process of apportionment is a critical and traditional part of politics in the United States." An expansive standard requiring "the correction of all election district lines drawn for partisan reasons would commit federal and state courts to unprecedented intervention in the American political process."

As noted, the question is one of degree: How to "provid[e] a standard for deciding how much partisan dominance is too much." And it is vital in such circumstances that the Court act only in accord with especially clear standards: "With uncertain limits, intervening courts — even when proceeding with best intentions — would risk assuming political, not legal, responsibility for a process that often produces ill will and distrust." If federal courts are to "inject [themselves] into the most heated partisan issues" by adjudicating partisan gerrymandering claims, they must be armed with a standard that can reliably differentiate unconstitutional from "constitutional political gerrymandering." *Cromartie*.

В

Partisan gerrymandering claims invariably sound in a desire for proportional representation. [S]uch claims are based on "a conviction that the greater the departure from proportionality, the more suspect an apportionment plan becomes." "Our cases, however, clearly foreclose any claim that the Constitution requires proportional representation or that legislatures in reapportioning must draw district lines to come as near as possible to allocating seats to the contending parties in proportion to what their anticipated statewide vote will be."

The Founders certainly did not think proportional representation was required. For more than 50 years after ratification of the Constitution, many States elected their congressional representatives through at-large or "general ticket" elections. Such States typically sent single-party delegations to Congress. That meant that a party could garner nearly half of the vote statewide and wind up without any seats in the congressional delegation.

Unable to claim that the Constitution requires proportional representation outright, plaintiffs inevitably ask the courts to make their own political judgment about how much representation particular political parties *deserve*— based on the votes of their supporters— and to rearrange the challenged districts to achieve that end. But federal courts are not equipped to apportion political power as a matter of fairness, nor is there any basis for concluding that they were authorized to do so

The initial difficulty in settling on a "clear, manageable and politically neutral" test for fairness is that it is not even clear what fairness looks like in this context. There is a large measure of "unfairness" in any winner-take-all system. Fairness may mean a greater number of competitive districts. Such a claim seeks to undo packing and cracking so that supporters of the disadvantaged party have a better shot at electing their preferred candidates. But making as many districts as possible more competitive could be a recipe for disaster for the disadvantaged party. As Justice White has pointed out, "[i]f all or most of the districts are competitive... even a narrow statewide preference for either party would produce an overwhelming majority for the winning party in the state legislature."

On the other hand, perhaps the ultimate objective of a "fairer" share of seats in the congressional delegation is most readily achieved by yielding to the gravitational pull of proportionality and engaging in cracking and packing, to ensure each party its "appropriate" share of "safe" seats. Such an approach, however, comes at the expense of competitive districts and of individuals in districts allocated to the opposing party.

Or perhaps fairness should be measured by adherence to "traditional" districting criteria, such as maintaining political subdivisions, keeping communities of interest together, and protecting incumbents. But protecting incumbents, for example, enshrines a particular partisan distribution. And the "natural political geography" of a State — such as the fact that urban electoral districts are often dominated by one political party — can itself lead to inherently packed districts.

Deciding among just these different visions of fairness (you can imagine many others) poses basic questions that are political, not legal. There are no legal standards discernible in the Constitution for making such judgments, let alone limited and precise standards that are clear, manageable, and politically neutral. Any judicial decision on what is "fair" in this context would be an "unmoored determination" of the sort characteristic of a political question beyond the competence of the federal courts.

And it is only after determining how to define fairness that you can even begin to answer the determinative question: "How much is too much?" At what point does permissible partisanship become unconstitutional? If compliance with traditional districting criteria is the fairness touchstone, for example, how much deviation from those criteria is constitutionally acceptable and how should mapdrawers prioritize competing criteria? Should a court "reverse gerrymander" other parts of a State to counteract "natural" gerrymandering caused, for example, by the urban concentration of one party? If a districting plan protected half of the incumbents but redistricted the rest into head to head races, would that be constitutional? A court would have to rank the relative importance of those traditional criteria and weigh how much deviation from each to allow.

If a court instead focused on the respective number of seats in the legislature, it would have to decide the ideal number of seats for each party and determine at what point deviation from that balance went too far. If a 5-3 allocation corresponds most closely to statewide vote totals, is a 6-2 allocation permissible? Or if the goal is as many competitive districts as possible, how close does the split need to be for the district to be considered competitive? Even assuming the court knew which version of fairness to be looking for, there are no discernible and manageable standards for deciding whether there has been a violation. The questions are "unguided and ill suited to the development of judicial standards," and "results from one gerrymandering case to the next would likely be disparate and inconsistent."

Appellees contend that if we can adjudicate one-person, one-vote claims, we can also assess partisan gerrymandering claims. But the one-person, one-vote rule is relatively easy to administer as a matter of math. The same cannot be said of partisan gerrymandering claims, because the Constitution supplies no objective measure for assessing whether a districting map treats a political party fairly. It hardly follows from the principle that each person must have an equal say in the election of representatives that a person is entitled to have his political party achieve representation in some way commensurate to its share of statewide support.

More fundamentally, "vote dilution" in the one-person, one-vote cases refers to the idea that each vote must carry equal weight. In other words, each representative must be accountable to (approximately) the same number of constituents. That requirement does not extend to political parties. It does not mean that each party must be influential in proportion to its number of supporters. As we stated unanimously in *Gill*, "this Court is not responsible for vindicating generalized partisan preferences. The Court's constitutionally prescribed role is to vindicate the individual rights of the people appearing before it."

Nor do our racial gerrymandering cases provide an appropriate standard for assessing partisan gerrymandering. "[N]othing in our case law compels the conclusion that racial and political gerrymanders are subject to precisely the same constitutional scrutiny. In fact, our country's long and persistent history of racial discrimination in voting — as well as our Fourteenth Amendment jurisprudence, which always has reserved the strictest scrutiny for discrimination on the basis of race — would seem to compel the opposite conclusion." Unlike partisan gerrymandering claims, a racial gerrymandering claim does not ask for a fair share of political power and influence, with all the justiciability conundrums that entails. It asks instead for the elimination of a racial classification. A partisan gerrymandering claim cannot ask for the elimination of partisanship.

ΙV

Appellees and the dissent propose a number of "tests" for evaluating partisan gerrymandering claims, but none meets the need for a limited and precise standard that is judicially discernible and manageable. And none provides a solid grounding for judges to take the extraordinary step of reallocating power and influence between political parties.

Δ

The Common Cause District Court concluded that all but one of the districts in North Carolina's 2016 Plan violated the Equal Protection Clause by intentionally diluting the voting strength of Democrats. In reaching that result the court first required the plaintiffs to prove "that a legislative mapdrawer's predominant purpose in drawing the lines of a particular district was to 'subordinate adherents of one political party and entrench a rival party in power.'" The District Court next required a showing "that the dilution of the votes of supporters of a disfavored party in a particular district — by virtue of cracking or packing — is likely to persist in subsequent elections such that an elected representative from the favored party in the district will not feel a need to be responsive to constituents who support the disfavored party." Finally, after a prima facie showing of partisan vote dilution, the District Court shifted the burden to the defendants to prove that the discriminatory effects are "attributable to a legitimate state interest or other neutral explanation."

#### 30 JUSTICIABILITY AND THE CASE OR CONROVERSY REQUIREMENT CH. 3

The District Court's "predominant intent" prong is borrowed from the racial gerrymandering context. In racial gerrymandering cases, we rely on a "predominant intent" inquiry to determine whether race was, in fact, the reason particular district boundaries were drawn the way they were. If district lines were drawn for the purpose of separating racial groups, then they are subject to strict scrutiny because "race-based decisionmaking is inherently suspect." But determining that lines were drawn on the basis of partisanship does not indicate that the districting was improper. A permissible intent — securing partisan advantage — does not become constitutionally impermissible, like racial discrimination, when that permissible intent "predominates."

The District Court tried to limit the reach of its test by requiring plaintiffs to show, in addition to predominant partisan intent, that vote dilution "is likely to persist" to such a degree that the elected representative will feel free to ignore the concerns of the supporters of the minority party. But "[t]o allow district courts to strike down apportionment plans on the basis of their prognostications as to the outcome of future elections... invites "findings" on matters as to which neither judges nor anyone else can have any confidence." And the test adopted by the *Common Cause* court requires a far more nuanced prediction than simply who would prevail in future political contests. Judges must forecast with unspecified certainty whether a prospective winner will have a margin of victory sufficient to permit him to ignore the supporters of his defeated opponent. Judges not only have to pick the winner — they have to beat the point spread.

The appellees assure us that "the persistence of a party's advantage may be shown through sensitivity testing: probing how a plan would perform under other plausible electoral conditions." Experience proves that accurately predicting electoral outcomes is not so simple, either because the plans are based on flawed assumptions about voter preferences and behavior or because demographics and priorities change over time.

Even the most sophisticated districting maps cannot reliably account for some of the reasons voters prefer one candidate over another, or why their preferences may change. Voters' selections depend on the issues that matter to them, the quality of the candidates, the tone of the candidates' campaigns, the performance of an incumbent, national events or local issues that drive voter turnout, and other considerations. Many voters split their tickets. Others never register with a political party, and vote for candidates from both major parties at different points during their lifetimes. For all of those reasons, asking judges to predict how a particular districting map will perform in future elections risks basing constitutional holdings on unstable ground outside judicial expertise.

B \* \* \*

The dissent proposes using a State's own districting criteria as a neutral baseline from which to measure how extreme a partisan gerrymander is. The dissent would have us line up all the possible maps drawn using those criteria according to the partisan distribution they would produce. Distance from the "median" map would indicate whether a particular districting plan harms supporters of one party to an unconstitutional extent.

As an initial matter, it does not make sense to use criteria that will vary from State to State and year to year as the baseline for determining whether a gerrymander violates the Federal Constitution. The degree of partisan advantage that the Constitution tolerates should not turn on criteria offered by the gerrymanderers themselves. It is easy to imagine how different criteria could move the median map toward different partisan distributions. As a result, the same map could be constitutional or not depending solely on what the mapmakers said they set out to do.

Even if we were to accept the dissent's proposed baseline, it would return us to "the original unanswerable question (How much political motivation and effect is too much?)." Would twenty percent away from the median map be okay? Forty percent? Sixty percent? Why or why not? (We appreciate that the dissent finds all the unanswerable questions annoying, but it seems a useful way to make the point.) The dissent's answer says it all: "This much is too much." That is not even trying to articulate a standard or rule.

The dissent argues that there are other instances in law where matters of degree are left to the courts. True enough. But those instances typically involve constitutional or statutory provisions or common law confining and guiding the exercise of judicial discretion. Judges began with a significant body of law about what constituted a legal violation. Here, on the other hand, the Constitution provides no basis whatever to guide the exercise of judicial discretion. Common experience gives content to terms such as "substantial risk" or "substantial harm," but the same cannot be said of substantial deviation from a median map. There is no way to tell whether the prohibited deviation from that map should kick in at 25 percent or 75 percent or some other point. The only provision in the Constitution that specifically addresses the matter assigns it to the political branches. See Art. I, § 4, cl. 1.



Excessive partisanship in districting leads to results that reasonably seem unjust. But the fact that such gerrymandering is "incompatible with democratic principles" does not mean that the solution lies with the federal judiciary. We conclude that partisan gerrymandering claims present political questions beyond the reach of the federal courts. Federal judges have no license to reallocate political power between the two major political parties, with no plausible grant of authority in the Constitution, and no legal standards to limit and direct their decisions. "[J]udicial action must be governed by *standard*, by *rule*," and must be "principled, rational, and based upon reasoned distinctions" found in the Constitution or laws. Judicial review of partisan gerrymandering does not meet those basic requirements.

Today the dissent essentially embraces the argument that the Court unanimously rejected in *Gill*: "this Court *can* address the problem of partisan gerrymandering because it *must*." That is not the test of our authority under the Constitution; that document instead "confines the federal courts to a properly judicial role." What the appellees and dissent seek is an unprecedented expansion of judicial power. We have never struck down a partisan gerrymander as unconstitutional — despite various requests over the past 45 years. The expansion of judicial authority would not be into just any area of controversy, but into one of

#### 32 JUSTICIABILITY AND THE CASE OR CONROVERSY REQUIREMENT CH. 3

the most intensely partisan aspects of American political life. That intervention would be unlimited in scope and duration — it would recur over and over again around the country with each new round of districting, for state as well as federal representatives. Consideration of the impact of today's ruling on democratic principles cannot ignore the effect of the unelected and politically unaccountable branch of the Federal Government assuming such an extraordinary and unprecedented role.

Our conclusion does not condone excessive partisan gerrymandering. Nor does our conclusion condemn complaints about districting to echo into a void. The States, for example, are actively addressing the issue on a number of fronts. In 2015, the Supreme Court of Florida struck down that State's congressional districting plan as a violation of the Fair Districts Amendment to the Florida Constitution. The dissent wonders why we can't do the same. The answer is that there is no "Fair Districts Amendment" to the Federal Constitution. Provisions in state statutes and state constitutions can provide standards and guidance for state courts to apply.

As noted, the Framers gave Congress the power to do something about partisan gerrymandering in the Elections Clause. Dozens of bills have been introduced to limit reliance on political considerations in redistricting. [One] example is the Fairness and Independence in Redistricting Act, which was introduced in 2005 and has been reintroduced in every Congress since. That bill would require every State to establish an independent commission to adopt redistricting plans. The bill also set forth criteria for the independent commissions to use, such as compactness, contiguity, and population equality. It would prohibit consideration of voting history, political party affiliation, or incumbent Representative's residence.

We express no view on any of these pending proposals. We simply note that the avenue for reform established by the Framers, and used by Congress in the past, remains open.

\* \* \*

No one can accuse this Court of having a crabbed view of the reach of its competence. But we have no commission to allocate political power and influence in the absence of a constitutional directive or legal standards to guide us in the exercise of such authority. "It is emphatically the province and duty of the judicial department to say what the law is." In this rare circumstance, that means our duty is to say "this is not law."

The judgments of the United States District Court for the Middle District of North Carolina and the United States District Court for the District of Maryland are vacated, and the cases are remanded with instructions to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction.

It is so ordered.

JUSTICE KAGAN, with whom JUSTICE GINSBURG, JUSTICE BREYER, and JUSTICE SOTOMAYOR join, dissenting.

For the first time ever, this Court refuses to remedy a constitutional violation because it thinks the task beyond judicial capabilities.

And not just any constitutional violation. The partisan gerrymanders in these cases deprived citizens of the most fundamental of their constitutional rights: the rights to participate equally in the political process, to join with others to advance

political beliefs, and to choose their political representatives. In so doing, the partisan gerrymanders here debased and dishonored our democracy, turning upside-down the core American idea that all governmental power derives from the people. These gerrymanders enabled politicians to entrench themselves in office as against voters' preferences. They promoted partisanship above respect for the popular will. They encouraged a politics of polarization and dysfunction. If left unchecked, gerrymanders like the ones here may irreparably damage our system of government.

And checking them is *not* beyond the courts. The majority's abdication comes just when courts across the country have coalesced around manageable judicial standards to resolve partisan gerrymandering claims. Those standards satisfy the majority's own benchmarks. They do not require courts to rely on their own ideas of electoral fairness, whether proportional representation or any other. And they limit courts to correcting only egregious gerrymanders, so judges do not become omnipresent players in the political process. In giving such gerrymanders a pass from judicial review, the majority goes tragically wrong.

I \* \* \* \* A \* \* \*

"Governments," the Declaration of Independence states, "deriv[e] their just Powers from the Consent of the Governed." The Constitution begins: "We the People of the United States." If there is a single idea that made our Nation, it is this one: The people are sovereign. The "power," James Madison wrote, "is in the people over the Government, and not in the Government over the people."

Free and fair and periodic elections are the key to that vision. The people get to choose their representatives. And then they get to decide, at regular intervals, whether to keep them. Election day — next year, and two years later, and two years after that — is what links the people to their representatives, and gives the people their sovereign power. That day is the foundation of democratic governance.

And partisan gerrymandering can make it meaningless. At its most extreme the practice amounts to "rigging elections." By drawing districts to maximize the power of some voters and minimize the power of others, a party in office at the right time can entrench itself there for a decade or more, no matter what the voters would prefer. The "core principle of republican government," this Court has recognized, is "that the voters should choose their representatives." Partisan gerrymandering turns it the other way around. By that mechanism, politicians can cherry-pick voters to ensure their reelection. And the power becomes, as Madison put it, "in the Government over the people."

The majority disputes none of this. I think it important to underscore that fact: The majority disputes none of what I have said about how gerrymanders undermine democracy. Indeed, the majority concedes that gerrymandering is "incompatible with democratic principles." And therefore what? That recognition would seem to demand a response. The majority offers two ideas that might qualify as such. One is that the political process can deal with the problem — a proposition dubious on its face. The other is that political gerrymanders have always been with us. To its credit, the majority does not frame that point as an originalist

constitutional argument. The majority's idea instead seems to be that if we have lived with partisan gerrymanders so long, we will survive.

That complacency has no cause. Yes, partisan gerrymandering goes back to the Republic's earliest days. But big data and modern technology make today's gerrymandering altogether different from the crude linedrawing of the past. Old-time efforts, based on little more than guesses, sometimes led to so-called dummymanders — gerrymanders that went spectacularly wrong. Not likely in today's world. Mapmakers now have access to more granular data about party preference and voting behavior than ever before. Just as important, advancements in computing technology have enabled mapmakers to put that information to use with unprecedented efficiency and precision. The effect is to make gerrymanders far more effective and durable than before, insulating politicians against all but the most titanic shifts in the political tides. These are not your grandfather's — let alone the Framers'— gerrymanders.

 $\mathbf{C}$ 

Partisan gerrymandering of the kind before us not only subverts democracy. It violates individuals' constitutional rights as well. Partisan gerrymandering operates through vote dilution — the devaluation of one citizen's vote as compared to others. A mapmaker draws district lines to "pack" and "crack" voters likely to support the disfavored party. He packs supermajorities of those voters into a relatively few districts, in numbers far greater than needed for their preferred candidates to prevail. Then he cracks the rest across many more districts, spreading them so thin that their candidates will not be able to win. Whether the person is packed or cracked, his vote carries less weight — has less consequence — than it would under a neutrally drawn map. In short, the mapmaker has made some votes count for less, because they are likely to go for the other party.

The Fourteenth Amendment, we long ago recognized, "guarantees the opportunity for equal participation by all voters in the election" of legislators. Based on that principle, this Court in its one-person-one-vote decisions prohibited creating districts with significantly different populations. A State could not, we explained, thus "dilut[e] the weight of votes because of place of residence." The constitutional injury in a partisan gerrymandering case is much the same, except that the dilution is based on party affiliation. As Justice Kennedy once hypothesized: If districters declared that they were drawing a map "so as most to burden [the votes of] Party X's" supporters, it would violate the Equal Protection Clause.

Though different Justices have described the constitutional harm in diverse ways, nearly all have agreed on this much: Extreme partisan gerrymandering violates the Constitution. Once again, the majority never disagrees; it appears to accept the "principle that each person must have an equal say in the election of representatives." And indeed, without this settled and shared understanding that cases like these inflict constitutional injury, the question of whether there are judicially manageable standards for resolving them would never come up.

TT

So the only way to understand the majority's opinion is as follows: In the face of grievous harm to democratic governance and flagrant infringements on individuals' rights — in the face of escalating partisan manipulation whose compatibility with this Nation's values and law no one defends — the majority declines to provide any remedy. [T]he majority declares that it can do nothing

about an acknowledged constitutional violation because it has searched high and low and cannot find a workable legal standard to apply.

The majority gives two reasons for thinking that the adjudication of partisan gerrymandering claims is beyond judicial capabilities. First and foremost, the majority says, it cannot find a neutral baseline — one not based on contestable notions of political fairness — from which to measure injury. According to the majority, "[p]artisan gerrymandering claims invariably sound in a desire for proportional representation." But the Constitution does not mandate proportional representation. So, the majority contends, courts would have "to make their own political judgment about how much representation particular political parties deserve" and "to rearrange the challenged districts to achieve that end." And second, the majority argues that even after establishing a baseline, a court would have no way to answer "the determinative question: 'How much is too much?'" No "discernible and manageable" standard is available, the majority claims — and so courts could willy-nilly become embroiled in fixing every districting plan.

I'll give the majority this one — and important — thing: It identifies some dangers everyone should want to avoid. Judges should not be apportioning political power based on their own vision of electoral fairness, whether proportional representation or any other. Respect for state legislative processes — and restraint in the exercise of judicial authority — counsels intervention in only egregious cases.

But in throwing up its hands, the majority misses something under its nose: What it says can't be done has been done. Over the past several years, federal courts across the country have largely converged on a standard for adjudicating partisan gerrymandering claims. And that standard does what the majority says is impossible. The standard does not use any judge-made conception of electoral fairness — either proportional representation or any other; instead, it takes as its baseline a State's own criteria of fairness, apart from partisan gain. And by requiring plaintiffs to make difficult showings relating to both purpose and effects, the standard invalidates the most extreme, but only the most extreme, partisan gerrymanders.

Α

Start with the standard the lower courts used. As many legal standards do, that test has three parts: (1) intent; (2) effects; and (3) causation. First, the plaintiffs challenging a districting plan must prove that state officials' "predominant purpose" in drawing a district's lines was to "entrench [their party] in power" by diluting the votes of citizens favoring its rival. Second, the plaintiffs must establish that the lines drawn in fact have the intended effect by "substantially" diluting their votes. And third, if the plaintiffs make those showings, the State must come up with a legitimate, non-partisan justification to save its map.

Turn now to the test's application. First, did the North Carolina and Maryland districters have the predominant purpose of entrenching their own party in power? Here, the two District Courts catalogued the overwhelming direct evidence that they did.

The majority's response to the District Courts' purpose analysis is discomfiting. The majority does not contest the lower courts' findings; how could it? Instead, the majority says that state officials' intent to entrench their party in power is perfectly "permissible," even when it is the predominant factor in drawing

district lines. But [i]t cannot be permissible and thus irrelevant, as the majority claims, that state officials have as their purpose the kind of grotesquely gerrymandered map that, according to all this Court has ever said, violates the Constitution.

On to the second step of the analysis, where the plaintiffs must prove that the districting plan substantially dilutes their votes. Consider the sort of evidence used in North Carolina. There, the plaintiffs demonstrated the districting plan's effects mostly by relying on what might be called the "extreme outlier approach." The approach begins by using advanced computing technology to randomly generate a large collection of districting plans that incorporate the State's physical and political geography and meet its declared districting criteria, except for partisan gain. For each of those maps, the method then uses actual precinct-level votes from past elections to determine a partisan outcome (i.e., the number of Democratic and Republican seats that map produces). Suppose we now have 1,000 maps, each with a partisan outcome attached to it. We can line up those maps on a continuum — the most favorable to Republicans on one end, the most favorable to Democrats on the other. We can then find the median outcome — that is, the outcome smack dab in the center — in a world with no partisan manipulation. And we can see where the State's actual plan falls on the spectrum — at or near the median or way out on one of the tails? The further out on the tail, the more extreme the partisan distortion and the more significant the vote dilution.

Using that approach, the North Carolina plaintiffs offered a boatload of alternative districting plans — all showing that the State's map was an out-out-out-outlier. One expert produced 3,000 maps, adhering in the way described above to the districting criteria that the North Carolina redistricting committee had used, other than partisan advantage. To calculate the partisan outcome of those maps, the expert also used the same election data that [the mapmaker] employed when devising the North Carolina plan in the first instance. The results were, shall we say, striking. Every single one of the 3,000 maps would have produced at least one more Democratic House Member than the State's actual map, and 77% would have elected three or four more. Based on those and other findings, the District Court determined that the North Carolina plan substantially dilutes the plaintiffs' votes.

The majority claims all these findings are mere "prognostications" about the future, in which no one "can have any confidence." But the courts below did not gaze into crystal balls, as the majority tries to suggest. Their findings about these gerrymanders' effects on voters were evidence-based, data-based, statistics-based. Knowledge-based, one might say. The courts did what anyone would want a decisionmaker to do when so much hangs in the balance. They looked hard at the facts, and they went where the facts led them. They looked at the evidence and they could reach only one conclusion. By substantially diluting the votes of citizens favoring their rivals, the politicians of one party had succeeded in entrenching themselves in office. They had beat democracy.

В

The majority's broadest claim, as I've noted, is that this is a price we must pay because judicial oversight of partisan gerrymandering cannot be "politically neutral" or "manageable." Courts, the majority argues, will have to choose among contested notions of electoral fairness. And even once courts have chosen, the majority continues, they will have to decide "[h]ow much is too much?" In answering that question, the majority surmises, they will likely go far too far. So

the whole thing is impossible, the majority concludes. But it never tries to analyze the serious question presented here — whether the kind of standard developed below allows for neutral and manageable oversight. That kind of oversight is not only possible; it's been done.

Consider neutrality first. Contrary to the majority's suggestion, the District Courts did not have to — and in fact did not — choose among competing visions of electoral fairness. That is because they did not try to compare the State's actual map to an "ideally fair" one. Instead, they looked at the difference between what the State did and what the State would have done if politicians hadn't been intent on partisan gain.

The North Carolina litigation well illustrates the point. The thousands of randomly generated maps I've mentioned formed the core of the plaintiffs' case that the North Carolina plan was an "extreme[] outlier." Those maps took the State's political landscape as a given. In North Carolina, for example, Democratic voters are highly concentrated in cities. That fact was built into all the maps; it became part of the baseline. On top of that, the maps took the State's legal landscape as a given. They incorporated the State's districting priorities, excluding partisanship. The point is that the assemblage of maps, reflecting the characteristics and judgments of the State itself, creates a neutral baseline from which to assess whether partisanship has run amok. Extreme outlier as to what? As to the other maps the State could have produced given its unique political geography and its chosen districting criteria. *Not* as to the maps a judge, with his own view of electoral fairness, could have dreamed up.

The majority's sole response misses the point. According to the majority, "it does not make sense to use" a State's own districting criteria as the baseline from which to measure partisan gerrymandering because those criteria "will vary from State to State and year to year." But that is a feature, not a bug. Using the criteria the State itself has chosen at the relevant time prevents any judicial predilections from affecting the analysis — exactly what the majority claims it wants. At the same time, using those criteria enables a court to measure just what it should: the extent to which the pursuit of partisan advantage has distorted the State's districting decisions.

The majority's "how much is too much" critique fares no better than its neutrality argument. How about the following for a first-cut answer: This much is too much. By any measure, a map that produces a greater partisan skew than any of 3,000 randomly generated maps reflects "too much" partisanship. Think about what I just said: The absolute worst of 3,001 possible maps. The *only one* that could produce a 10-3 partisan split even as Republicans got a bare majority of the statewide vote. If the majority had done nothing else, it could have set the line here.

And if the majority thought that approach too case-specific, it could have used the lower courts' general standard — focusing on "predominant" purpose and "substantial" effects — without fear of indeterminacy. I do not take even the majority to claim that courts are incapable of investigating whether legislators mainly intended to seek partisan advantage. Nor is there any reason to doubt, as the majority does, the competence of courts to determine whether a district map "substantially" dilutes the votes of a rival party's supporters from the everything-but-partisanship baseline described above. [C]ontrary to the majority's suggestion, courts all the time make judgments about the substantiality of harm without

reducing them to particular percentages. If courts are no longer competent to do so, they will have to relinquish, well, substantial portions of their docket.

And the combined inquiry used in these cases set the bar high, so that courts could intervene in the worst partisan gerrymanders, but no others. That the two courts below found constitutional violations does not mean their tests were unrigorous; it means that the conduct they confronted was constitutionally appalling — by even the strictest measure, inordinately partisan.

The majority, in the end, fails to understand both the plaintiffs' claims and the decisions below. Everything in today's opinion assumes that these cases grew out of a "desire for proportional representation" or, more generally phrased, a "fair share of political power." But that is not so. The plaintiffs objected to one specific practice — the extreme manipulation of district lines for partisan gain. Elimination of that practice could have led to proportional representation. Or it could have led to nothing close. That was not the crux of this suit. The plaintiffs asked only that the courts bar politicians from entrenching themselves in power by diluting the votes of their rivals' supporters. And the courts, using neutral and manageable — and eminently legal — standards, provided that relief.

#### TTT

[T]he need for judicial review is at its most urgent in cases like these. "For here, politicians' incentives conflict with voters' interests, leaving citizens without any political remedy for their constitutional harms." Those harms arise because politicians want to stay in office. No one can look to them for effective relief.

The majority disagrees, concluding its opinion with a paean to congressional bills limiting partisan gerrymanders. One was "introduced in 2005 and has been reintroduced in every Congress since." And might be reintroduced until the end of time. Because what all these *bills* have in common is that they are not *laws*. The politicians who benefit from partisan gerrymandering are unlikely to change partisan gerrymandering. And because those politicians maintain themselves in office through partisan gerrymandering, the chances for legislative reform are slight.

The majority's most perplexing "solution" is to look to state courts. But what do those courts know that this Court does not? If they can develop and apply neutral and manageable standards to identify unconstitutional gerrymanders, why couldn't we?

We could have, and we should have. The gerrymanders here — and they are typical of many — violated the constitutional rights of many hundreds of thousands of American citizens. Those voters did not have an equal opportunity to participate in the political process. Their votes counted for far less than they should have because of their partisan affiliation. When faced with such constitutional wrongs, courts must intervene.

[G]errymandering is, as so many Justices have emphasized before, antidemocratic in the most profound sense. In our government, "all political power flows from the people." And that means "that the people should choose whom they please to govern them." But in Maryland and North Carolina they cannot do so. In Maryland, election in and election out, there are 7 Democrats and 1 Republican in the congressional delegation. In North Carolina, however the political winds blow, there are 10 Republicans and 3 Democrats. Is it conceivable that someday voters will be able to break out of that prefabricated box? Sure. But everything possible has been done to make that hard. To create a world in which power does not flow from the people because they do not choose their governors.

Of all times to abandon the Court's duty to declare the law, this was not the one. The practices challenged in these cases imperil our system of government. Part of the Court's role in that system is to defend its foundations. None is more important than free and fair elections. With respect but deep sadness, I dissent.

# Note: Partisan Gerrymandering as a Political Question

- 1. Gill v. Whitford held that allegations of statewide harms are insufficient to establish Article III standing in partisan-gerrymandering cases. In doing so, it discussed in some length what plaintiffs would need to do to prove that they have standing to challenge a partisan gerrymander. But just a year later, the Court ruled that partisan-gerrymandering claims pose political questions that courts are not permitted to resolve regardless of whether plaintiffs would otherwise have standing. Should the Court have decided the political-question issue in Gill? Why wait?
- **2.** The majority opinion stressed that it would be highly controversial for courts to interject themselves into sensitive political matters like districting. To what extent do you think the Court ruled the way it did to preserve its legitimacy? Is preserving judicial legitimacy itself a "legitimate" basis for deciding something is a "political question?"
- **3.** The majority claimed that it did not condone "excessive partisan gerrymandering" and noted that Congress and each state could take steps to address the problem. Shortly after the opinion was released, commentators likened the majority's proposed solution to asking foxes to guard a henhouse. Is that a fair assessment? Can partisan gerrymandering be addressed through the political process? If not, does that call into question the holding?
- **4.** The central holding is that there are no "judicially discoverable and manageable standards" for analyzing partisan-gerrymandering claims. Unlike other areas of law, the majority notes, these claims lack any grounding in the Constitution, statutes, or the common law and so judges would be unfamiliar with how to approach them. Judges would have no way of knowing, for example, whether the "prohibited deviation from [the median map] should kick in at 25 percent or 75 percent or some other point." The dissent, in contrast, discusses the empirical methods employed by experts to identify "outlier" gerrymanders. Do you think courts could competently address these questions? If so, how would the court choose?
- **5.** According to the dissent's logic, how would a court analyze a partisangerrymandering claim if a state passed a law explicitly permitting it? What about for a state that lacks any statutory guidance for districting at all? Does it "make sense to use criteria that will vary from State to State and year to year as the baseline for determining whether a gerrymander violates the Federal Constitution?"

Copyright © 2019 Carolina Academic Press, LLC. All rights reserved.

# Chapter 8

# Federal Common Law

# D. Implied Remedies for Violation of Constitutional Rights

Page 468: insert after the Note:

## Ziglar v. Abbasi et al.

Supreme Court of the United States, 2017. 582 U.S. .

JUSTICE KENNEDY delivered the opinion of the Court, except as to Part IV-B.

After the September 11 terrorist attacks in this country, and in response to the deaths, destruction, and dangers they caused, the United States Government ordered hundreds of illegal aliens to be taken into custody and held. Pending a determination whether a particular detainee had connections to terrorism, the custody, under harsh conditions to be described, continued. In many instances custody lasted for days and weeks, then stretching into months. Later, some of the aliens who had been detained filed suit, leading to the cases now before the Court.

The complaint named as defendants three high executive officers in the Department of Justice and two of the wardens at the facility where the detainees had been held. Most of the claims, alleging various constitutional violations, sought damages under the implied cause of action theory adopted by this Court in *Bivens v. Six Unknown Fed. Narcotics Agents*, 403 U.S. 388 (1971)...

[The United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York granted motions to dismiss as to some defendants, but denied them as to others. The Second Circuit held that the complaints were sufficient.]

The Court granted certiorari to consider these rulings....

I A

[Following the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, the FBI questioned thousands of individuals, including many aliens unlawfully in the United States.]

If the FBI designated an alien as "of interest" to the investigation, or if it had doubts about the proper designation in a particular case, the alien was detained subject to a "hold-until-cleared policy." The aliens were held without bail. [Following the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks the FBI questioned thousands of individuals, including many aliens unlawfully present in the United States.]

ъ

Respondents are six men of Arab or South Asian descent. Five are Muslims. Each was illegally in this country, arrested during the course of the September 11 investigation, and detained in the [the Administrative Maximum Special Housing Unit (or Unit) of the Metropolitan Detention Center in Brooklyn, New York] Unit for periods ranging from three to eight months. After being released respondents were removed from the United States.

Respondents then sued on their own behalf, and on behalf of a putative class, seeking compensatory and punitive damages, attorney's fees, and costs.... The gravamen of their claims was that the Government had no reason to suspect them

of any connection to terrorism, and thus had no legitimate reason to hold them for so long in [the] harsh conditions [of the Unit].

As relevant here, respondents sued two groups of federal officials in their official capacities. The first group consisted of former Attorney General John Ashcroft, former FBI Director Robert Mueller, and former Immigration and Naturalization Service Commissioner James Ziglar. This opinion refers to these three petitioners as the "Executive Officials." The other petitioners named in the complaint were the MDC's warden, Dennis Hasty, and associate warden, James Sherman. This opinion refers to these two petitioners as the "Wardens."

Seeking to invoke the Court's decision in *Bivens*, respondents brought four claims under the Constitution itself. First, respondents alleged that petitioners detained them in harsh pretrial conditions for a punitive purpose, in violation of the substantive due process component of the Fifth Amendment. Second, respondents alleged that petitioners detained them in harsh conditions because of their actual or apparent race, religion, or national origin, in violation of the equal protection component of the Fifth Amendment. Third, respondents alleged that the Wardens subjected them to punitive strip searches unrelated to any legitimate penological interest, in violation of the Fourth Amendment and the substantive due process component of the Fifth Amendment. Fourth, respondents alleged that the Wardens knowingly allowed the guards to abuse respondents, in violation of the substantive due process component of the Fifth Amendment.

\* \* \*

 $\mathbf{C}$ 

The District Court dismissed the claims against the Executive Officials but allowed the claims against the Wardens to go forward. The Court of Appeals affirmed in most respects as to the Wardens[.] As to the Executive Officials, however, the Court of Appeals reversed, reinstating respondents' claims....

Ħ

The first question to be discussed is whether petitioners can be sued for damages under *Bivens* and the ensuing cases in this Court defining the reach and the limits of that precedent.

Α

In 1871, Congress passed a statute that was later codified at 42 U.S.C.  $\S$  1983. It entitles an injured person to money damages if a state official violates his or her constitutional rights. Congress did not create an analogous statute for federal officials. Indeed, in the 100 years leading up to *Bivens*, Congress did not provide a specific damages remedy for plaintiffs whose constitutional rights were violated by agents of the Federal Government.

In 1971, and against this background, this Court decided *Bivens*. The Court held that, even absent statutory authorization, it would enforce a damages remedy to compensate persons injured by federal officers who violated the prohibition against unreasonable search and seizures. The Court acknowledged that the Fourth Amendment does not provide for money damages "in so many words." The Court noted, however, that Congress had not foreclosed a damages remedy in "explicit" terms and that no "special factors" suggested that the Judiciary should "hesitat[e]" in the face of congressional silence. The Court, accordingly, held that it could authorize a remedy under general principles of federal jurisdiction.

#### D. IMPLIED REMEDIES FOR VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

In the decade that followed, the Court recognized what has come to be called an implied cause of action in two cases involving other constitutional violations. In Davis v. Passman, 442 U.S. 228 (1979), an administrative assistant sued a Congressman for firing her because she was a woman. The Court held that the Fifth Amendment Due Process Clause gave her a damages remedy for gender discrimination. And in Carlson v. Green, 446 U.S. 14 (1980), a prisoner's estate sued federal jailers for failing to treat the prisoner's asthma. The Court held that the Eighth Amendment Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause gave him a damages remedy for failure to provide adequate medical treatment. These three cases — Bivens, Davis, and Carlson — represent the only instances in which the Court has approved of an implied damages remedy under the Constitution itself.

В

To understand *Bivens* and the two other cases implying a damages remedy under the Constitution, it is necessary to understand the prevailing law when they were decided. In the mid-20th century, the Court followed a different approach to recognizing implied causes of action than it follows now. During this "ancien regime," Alexander v. Sandoval, 532 U.S. 275 (2001), the Court assumed it to be a proper judicial function to "provide such remedies as are necessary to make effective" a statute's purpose, J. I. Case Co. v. Borak, 377 U.S. 426 (1964). Thus, as a routine matter with respect to statutes, the Court would imply causes of action not explicit in the statutory text itself.

These statutory decisions were in place when *Bivens* recognized an implied cause of action to remedy a constitutional violation. Against that background, the *Bivens* decision held that courts must "adjust their remedies so as to grant the necessary relief" when "federally protected rights have been invaded." In light of this interpretive framework, there was a possibility that "the Court would keep expanding *Bivens* until it became the substantial equivalent of 42 U.S.C. § 1983."

 $\mathbf{C}$ 

Later, the arguments for recognizing implied causes of action for damages began to lose their force. In cases decided after *Bivens*, and after the statutory implied cause-of-action cases that *Bivens* itself relied upon, the Court adopted a far more cautious course before finding implied causes of action. In two principal cases under other statutes, it declined to find an implied cause of action. See *Piper v. Chris-Craft Industries, Inc.*, 430 U.S. 1, 42 (1977); *Cort v. Ash*, 422 U.S. 66 (1975). Later, in *Cannon v. University of Chicago*, 441 U.S. 677 (1979), the Court did allow an implied cause of action; but it cautioned that, where Congress "intends private litigants to have a cause of action," the "far better course" is for Congress to confer that remedy in explicit terms.

Following this expressed caution, the Court clarified in a series of cases that, when deciding whether to recognize an implied cause of action, the "determinative" question is one of statutory intent. If the statute itself does not "displa[y] an intent" to create "a private remedy," then "a cause of action does not exist and courts may not create one, no matter how desirable that might be as a policy matter, or how compatible with the statute." The Court held that the judicial task was instead "limited solely to determining whether Congress intended to create the private right of action asserted." If the statute does not itself so provide, a private cause of action will not be created through judicial mandate.

The decision to recognize an implied cause of action under a statute involves somewhat different considerations than when the question is whether to recognize an implied cause of action to enforce a provision of the Constitution itself. When Congress enacts a statute, there are specific procedures and times for considering its terms and the proper means for its enforcement. It is logical, then, to assume that Congress will be explicit if it intends to create a private cause of action. With respect to the Constitution, however, there is no single, specific congressional action to consider and interpret.

Even so, it is a significant step under separation-of-powers principles for a court to determine that it has the authority, under the judicial power, to create and enforce a cause of action for damages against federal officials in order to remedy a constitutional violation. When determining whether traditional equitable powers suffice to give necessary constitutional protection — or whether, in addition, a damages remedy is necessary - there are a number of economic and governmental concerns to consider. Claims against federal officials often create substantial costs, in the form of defense and indemnification. Congress, then, has a substantial responsibility to determine whether, and the extent to which, monetary and other liabilities should be imposed upon individual officers and employees of the Federal Government. In addition, the time and administrative costs attendant upon intrusions resulting from the discovery and trial process are significant factors to be considered. In an analogous context, Congress, it is fair to assume, weighed those concerns in deciding not to substitute the Government as defendant in suits seeking damages for constitutional violations. See 28 U.S.C. § 2679(b)(2)(A) (providing that certain provisions of the Federal Tort Claims Act do not apply to any claim against a federal employee "which is brought for a violation of the Constitution").

For these and other reasons, the Court's expressed caution as to implied causes of actions under congressional statutes led to similar caution with respect to actions in the *Bivens* context, where the action is implied to enforce the Constitution itself. Indeed, in light of the changes to the Court's general approach to recognizing implied damages remedies, it is possible that the analysis in the Court's three *Bivens* cases might have been different if they were decided today....

Given the notable change in the Court's approach to recognizing implied causes of action, however, the Court has made clear that expanding the *Bivens* remedy is now a "disfavored" judicial activity. This is in accord with the Court's observation that it has "consistently refused to extend *Bivens* to any new context or new category of defendants." *Correctional Services Corp. v. Malesko*, 534 U.S. 61 (2001). Indeed, the Court has refused to do so for the past 30 years.

For example, the Court declined to create an implied damages remedy in the following cases: a First Amendment suit against a federal employer, a race-discrimination suit against military officers, a substantive due process suit against military officers, a procedural due process suit against Social Security officials, a procedural due process suit against a federal agency for wrongful termination, an Eighth Amendment suit against a private prison operator, a due process suit against officials from the Bureau of Land Management, and an Eighth Amendment suit against prison guards at a private prison.

When a party seeks to assert an implied cause of action under the Constitution itself, just as when a party seeks to assert an implied cause of action under a federal statute, separation-of-powers principles are or should be central to

#### D. IMPLIED REMEDIES FOR VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

the analysis. The question is "who should decide" whether to provide for a damages remedy, Congress or the courts?

The answer most often will be Congress. When an issue "involves a host of considerations that must be weighed and appraised," it should be committed to "those who write the laws'" rather than "those who interpret them." In most instances, the Court's precedents now instruct, the Legislature is in the better position to consider if "the public interest would be served" by imposing a "new substantive legal liability." As a result, the Court has urged "caution" before "extending *Bivens* remedies into any new context." The Court's precedents now make clear that a *Bivens* remedy will not be available if there are "special factors counselling hesitation in the absence of affirmative action by Congress."

This Court has not defined the phrase "special factors counselling hesitation." The necessary inference, though, is that the inquiry must concentrate on whether the Judiciary is well suited, absent congressional action or instruction, to consider and weigh the costs and benefits of allowing a damages action to proceed....

It is not necessarily a judicial function to establish whole categories of cases in which federal officers must defend against personal liability claims in the complex sphere of litigation, with all of its burdens on some and benefits to others. It is true that, if equitable remedies prove insufficient, a damages remedy might be necessary to redress past harm and deter future violations. Yet the decision to recognize a damages remedy requires an assessment of its impact on governmental operations systemwide. Those matters include the burdens on Government employees who are sued personally, as well as the projected costs and consequences to the Government itself when the tort and monetary liability mechanisms of the legal system are used to bring about the proper formulation and implementation of public policies. These and other considerations may make it less probable that Congress would want the Judiciary to entertain a damages suit in a given case.

Sometimes there will be doubt because the case arises in a context in which Congress has designed its regulatory authority in a guarded way, making it less likely that Congress would want the Judiciary to interfere. And sometimes there will be doubt because some other feature of a case... causes a court to pause before acting without express congressional authorization. In sum, if there are sound reasons to think Congress might doubt the efficacy or necessity of a damages remedy as part of the system for enforcing the law and correcting a wrong, the courts must refrain from creating the remedy in order to respect the role of Congress in determining the nature and extent of federal-court jurisdiction under Article III.

In a related way, if there is an alternative remedial structure present in a certain case, that alone may limit the power of the Judiciary to infer a new *Bivens* cause of action. For if Congress has created "any alternative, existing process for protecting the [injured party's] interest" that itself may "amoun[t] to a convincing reason for the Judicial Branch to refrain from providing a new and freestanding remedy in damages."

III

It is appropriate now to turn first to the *Bivens* claims challenging the conditions of confinement imposed on respondents pursuant to the formal policy adopted by the Executive Officials in the wake of the September 11 attacks. The

Court will refer to these claims as the "detention policy claims." The detention policy claims allege that petitioners violated respondents' due process and equal protection rights by holding them in restrictive conditions of confinement; the claims further allege that the Wardens violated the Fourth and Fifth Amendments by subjecting respondents to frequent strip searches. . . . At this point, the question is whether, having considered the relevant special factors in the whole context of the detention policy claims, the Court should extend a *Bivens*-type remedy to those claims.

#### Α

Before allowing respondents' detention policy claims to proceed under *Bivens*, the Court of Appeals did not perform any special factors analysis at all. The reason, it said, was that the special factors analysis is necessary only if a plaintiff asks for a *Bivens* remedy in a new context. And in the Court of Appeals' view, the context here was not new.

To determine whether the *Bivens* context was novel, the Court of Appeals employed a two-part test. First, it asked whether the asserted constitutional right was at issue in a previous *Bivens* case. Second, it asked whether the mechanism of injury was the same mechanism of injury in a previous *Bivens* case. Under the Court of Appeals' approach, if the answer to both questions is "yes," then the context is not new and no special factors analysis is required.

That approach is inconsistent with the analysis in *Malesko*. Before the Court decided that case, it had approved [in *Carlson*] a *Bivens* action under the Eighth Amendment against federal prison officials for failure to provide medical treatment. In *Malesko*, the plaintiff sought relief against a private prison operator in almost parallel circumstances. In both cases, the right at issue was the same: the Eighth Amendment right to be free from cruel and unusual punishment. And in both cases, the mechanism of injury was the same: failure to provide adequate medical treatment. Thus, if the approach followed by the Court of Appeals is the correct one, this Court should have held that the cases arose in the same context, obviating any need for a special factors inquiry.

That, however, was not the controlling analytic frame-work in *Malesko*. Even though the right and the mechanism of injury were the same as they were in *Carlson*, the Court held that the contexts were different. The Court explained that special factors counseled hesitation and that the *Bivens* remedy was therefore unavailable.

\* \* \*

The proper test for determining whether a case presents a new *Bivens* context is as follows. If the case is different in a meaningful way from previous *Bivens* cases decided by this Court, then the context is new. Without endeavoring to create an exhaustive list of differences that are meaningful enough to make a given context a new one, some examples might prove instructive. A case might differ in a meaningful way because of the rank of the officers involved; the constitutional right at issue; the generality or specificity of the official action; the extent of judicial guidance as to how an officer should respond to the problem or emergency to be confronted; the statutory or other legal mandate under which the officer was operating; the risk of disruptive intrusion by the Judiciary into the functioning of other branches; or the presence of potential special factors that previous *Bivens* cases did not consider.

#### D. IMPLIED REMEDIES FOR VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

In the present suit, respondents' detention policy claims challenge the confinement conditions imposed on illegal aliens pursuant to a high-level executive policy created in the wake of a major terrorist attack on American soil. Those claims bear little resemblance to the three *Bivens* claims the Court has approved in the past: a claim against FBI agents for handcuffing a man in his own home without a warrant; a claim against a Congressman for firing his female secretary; and a claim against prison officials for failure to treat an inmate's asthma. The Court of Appeals therefore should have held that this was a new *Bivens* context.

R

After considering the special factors necessarily implicated by the detention policy claims, the Court now holds that those factors show that whether a damages action should be allowed is a decision for the Congress to make, not the courts.

With respect to the claims against the Executive Officials, it must be noted that a *Bivens* action is not "a proper vehicle for altering an entity's policy." Furthermore, a *Bivens* claim is brought against the individual official for his or her own acts, not the acts of others. "The purpose of *Bivens* is to deter the *officer*." *Bivens* is not designed to hold officers responsible for acts of their subordinates.

Even if the action is confined to the conduct of a particular Executive Officer in a discrete instance, these claims would call into question the formulation and implementation of a general policy. This, in turn, would necessarily require inquiry and discovery into the whole course of the discussions and deliberations that led to the policies and governmental acts being challenged. These consequences counsel against allowing a *Bivens* action against the Executive Officials, for the burden and demand of litigation might well prevent them — or, to be more precise, future officials like them — from devoting the time and effort required for the proper discharge of their duties.

A closely related problem, as just noted, is that the discovery and litigation process would either border upon or directly implicate the discussion and deliberations that led to the formation of the policy in question. Allowing a damages suit in this context, or in a like context in other circumstances, would require courts to interfere in an intrusive way with sensitive functions of the Executive Branch.

In addition to this special factor, which applies to the claims against the Executive Officials, there are three other special factors that apply as well to the detention policy claims against all of the petitioners. First, respondents' detention policy claims challenge more than standard "law enforcement operations." They challenge as well major elements of the Government's whole response to the September 11 attacks, thus of necessity requiring an inquiry into sensitive issues of national security. Were this inquiry to be allowed in a private suit for damages, the *Bivens* action would assume dimensions far greater than those present in *Bivens* itself, or in either of its two follow-on cases, or indeed in any putative *Bivens* case yet to come before the Court.

National-security policy is the prerogative of the Congress and President. Judicial inquiry into the national-security realm raises "concerns for the separation of powers in trenching on matters committed to the other branches." These concerns are even more pronounced when the judicial inquiry comes in the context of a claim seeking money damages rather than a claim seeking injunctive or other equitable relief. The risk of personal damages liability is more likely to cause an

official to second-guess difficult but necessary decisions concerning national-security policy.

\* \* \*

There are limitations, of course, on the power of the Executive under Article II of the Constitution and in the powers authorized by congressional enactments, even with respect to matters of national security. And national-security concerns must not become a talisman used to ward off inconvenient claims — a "label" used to "cover a multitude of sins." This "'danger of abuse'" is even more heightened given "'the difficulty of defining'" the "'security interest'" in domestic cases.

Even so, the question is only whether "congressionally uninvited intrusion" is "inappropriate" action for the Judiciary to take. The factors discussed above all suggest that Congress' failure to provide a damages remedy might be more than mere oversight, and that congressional silence might be more than "inadvertent." This possibility counsels hesitation "in the absence of affirmative action by Congress."

Furthermore, in any inquiry respecting the likely or probable intent of Congress, the silence of Congress is relevant; and here that silence is telling. In the almost 16 years since September 11, the Federal Government's responses to that terrorist attack have been well documented. Congressional interest has been "frequent and intense," and some of that interest has been directed to the conditions of confinement at issue here. Indeed, at Congress' behest, the Department of Justice's Office of the Inspector General compiled a 300-page report documenting the conditions in the MDC in great detail. Nevertheless, "[a]t no point did Congress choose to extend to any person the kind of remedies that respondents seek in this lawsuit."

This silence is notable because it is likely that high-level policies will attract the attention of Congress. Thus, when Congress fails to provide a damages remedy in circumstances like these, it is much more difficult to believe that "congressional inaction" was "inadvertent."

It is of central importance, too, that this is not a case like *Bivens* or *Davis* in which "it is damages or nothing." Unlike the plaintiffs in those cases, respondents do not challenge individual instances of discrimination or law enforcement overreach, which due to their very nature are difficult to address except by way of damages actions after the fact. Respondents instead challenge large-scale policy decisions concerning the conditions of confinement imposed on hundreds of prisoners. To address those kinds of decisions, detainees may seek injunctive relief. And in addition to that, we have left open the question whether they might be able to challenge their confinement conditions via a petition for a writ of habeas corpus. Indeed, the habeas remedy, if necessity required its use, would have provided a faster and more direct route to relief than a suit for money damages. . . .

There is a persisting concern, of course, that absent a *Bivens* remedy there will be insufficient deterrence to prevent officers from violating the Constitution. In circumstances like those presented here, however, the stakes on both sides of the argument are far higher than in past cases the Court has considered. If *Bivens* liability were to be imposed, high officers who face personal liability for damages might refrain from taking urgent and lawful action in a time of crisis. And, as already noted, the costs and difficulties of later litigation might intrude upon and interfere with the proper exercise of their office.

#### D. IMPLIED REMEDIES FOR VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

On the other side of the balance, the very fact that some executive actions have the sweeping potential to affect the liberty of so many is a reason to consider proper means to impose restraint and to provide some redress from injury. There is therefore a balance to be struck, in situations like this one, between deterring constitutional violations and freeing high officials to make the lawful decisions necessary to protect the Nation in times of great peril. The proper balance is one for the Congress, not the Judiciary, to undertake. For all of these reasons, the Court of Appeals erred by allowing respondents' detention policy claims to proceed under *Bivens*.

IV A

One of respondents' claims under *Bivens* requires a different analysis: the prisoner abuse claim against the MDC's warden, Dennis Hasty. The allegation is that Warden Hasty violated the Fifth Amendment by allowing prison guards to abuse respondents.

\* \* \*

The complaint alleges that guards routinely abused respondents; that the warden encouraged the abuse by referring to respondents as "terrorists"; that he prevented respondents from using normal grievance procedures; that he stayed away from the Unit to avoid seeing the abuse; that he was made aware of the abuse via "inmate complaints, staff complaints, hunger strikes, and suicide attempts"; that he ignored other "direct evidence of [the] abuse, including logs and other official [records]"; that he took no action "to rectify or address the situation"; and that the abuse resulted in the injuries described above, see. These allegations — assumed here to be true, subject to proof at a later stage — plausibly show the warden's deliberate indifference to the abuse. Consistent with the opinion of every judge in this case to have considered the question, including the dissenters in the Court of Appeals, the Court concludes that the prisoner abuse allegations against Warden Hasty state a plausible ground to find a constitutional violation if a *Bivens* remedy is to be implied.

Warden Hasty argues, however, that *Bivens* ought not to be extended to this instance of alleged prisoner abuse. As noted above, the first question a court must ask in a case like this one is whether the claim arises in a new *Bivens* context, *i.e.*, whether "the case is different in a meaningful way from previous *Bivens* cases decided by this Court."

It is true that this case has significant parallels to [Carlson]. There, the Court did allow a Bivens claim for prisoner mistreatment — specifically, for failure to provide medical care. And the allegations of injury here are just as compelling as those at issue in Carlson.

Yet even a modest extension is still an extension. And this case does seek to extend *Carlson* to a new context. . . .

The constitutional right is different here, since *Carlson* was predicated on the Eighth Amendment and this claim is predicated on the Fifth. And the judicial guidance available to this warden, with respect to his supervisory duties, was less developed. The Court has long made clear the standard for claims alleging failure to provide medical treatment to a prisoner — "deliberate indifference to serious medical needs." The standard for a claim alleging that a warden allowed guards to abuse pre-trial detainees is less clear under the Court's precedents.

This case also has certain features that were not considered in the Court's previous *Bivens* cases and that might discourage a court from authorizing a *Bivens* remedy. As noted above, the existence of alternative remedies usually precludes a court from authorizing a *Bivens* action. And there might have been alternative remedies available here, for example, a writ of habeas corpus, an injunction requiring the warden to bring his prison into compliance with the regulations discussed above; or some other form of equitable relief.

Furthermore, legislative action suggesting that Congress does not want a damages remedy is itself a factor counseling hesitation. Some 15 years after *Carlson* was decided, Congress passed the Prison Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which made comprehensive changes to the way prisoner abuse claims must be brought in federal court. See 42 U.S.C. § 1997e.... [T]he Act itself does not provide for a standalone damages remedy against federal jailers. It could be argued that this suggests Congress chose not to extend the *Carlson* damages remedy to cases involving other types of prisoner mistreatment.

The differences between this claim and the one in *Carlson* are perhaps small, at least in practical terms. Given this Court's expressed caution about extending the *Bivens* remedy, however, the new-context inquiry is easily satisfied. Some differences, of course, will be so trivial that they will not suffice to create a new *Bivens* context. But here the differences identified above are at the very least meaningful ones. Thus, before allowing this claim to proceed under *Bivens*, the Court of Appeals should have performed a special factors analysis.

R

Although the Court could perform that analysis in the first instance, . . . the Court declines to perform the special factors analysis itself. The better course is to vacate the judgment below, allowing the Court of Appeals or the District Court to do so on remand.

V \* \* \* B

The judgment of the Court of Appeals is reversed as to all of the claims except the prisoner abuse claim against Warden Hasty. The judgment of the Court of Appeals with respect to that claim is vacated, and that case is remanded for further proceedings.

It is so ordered.

JUSTICE SOTOMAYOR, JUSTICE KAGAN, and JUSTICE GORSUCH took no part in the consideration or decision of these cases.

JUSTICE THOMAS, concurring in part and concurring in the judgment.

I join the Court's opinion except for Part IV-B.

ſ

With respect to respondents' *Bivens* claims, I join the opinion of the Court to the extent it reverses the Second Circuit's ruling. The Court correctly applies our precedents to hold that *Bivens* does not supply a cause of action against petitioners for most of the alleged Fourth and Fifth Amendment violations. It also correctly recognizes that respondents' claims against petitioner Dennis Hasty seek to extend *Bivens* to a new context.

#### D. IMPLIED REMEDIES FOR VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

I concur in the judgment of the Court vacating the Court of Appeals' judgment with regard to claims against Hasty. I have previously noted that "'Bivens is a relic of the heady days in which this Court assumed common-law powers to create causes of action.'" I have thus declined to "extend Bivens even [where] its reasoning logically applied," thereby limiting "Bivens and its progeny... to the precise circumstances that they involved." This would, in most cases, mean a reversal of the judgment of the Court of Appeals is in order. However, in order for there to be a controlling judgment in this suit, I concur in the judgment vacating and remanding the claims against petitioner Hasty as that disposition is closest to my preferred approach.

II \* \* \*

JUSTICE BREYER, with whom JUSTICE GINSBURG joins, dissenting.

\* \* \*

The plaintiffs before us today seek damages for unconstitutional conditions of confinement. They alleged that federal officials slammed them against walls, shackled them, exposed them to nonstop lighting, lack of hygiene, and the like, all based upon invidious discrimination and without penological justification. In my view, these claims are well-pleaded, state violations of clearly established law, and fall within the scope of longstanding *Bivens* law. For those reasons, I would affirm the judgment of the Court of Appeals. . . .

\* \* \* \*
I
\* \* \* \*

[Justice Breyer described the development of  $\it Bivens$  remedies.]

\* \* \*

As the majority opinion points out, this Court in more recent years has indicated that "expanding the Bivens remedy is now a 'disfavored' judicial activity." Thus, it has held that the remedy is not available in the context of suits against military officers, in the context of suits against privately operated prisons and their employees, in the context of suits seeking to vindicate procedural, rather than substantive, constitutional protections, and in the context of suits seeking to vindicate two quite different forms of important substantive protection, one involving free speech, and the other involving protection of land rights. Each of these cases involved a context that differed from that of Bivens, Davis, and Carlson with respect to the kind of defendant, the basic nature of the right, or the kind of harm suffered. That is to say, as we have explicitly stated, these cases were "fundamentally different from anything recognized in Bivens or subsequent cases." In each of them, the plaintiffs were asking the Court to "authoriz[e] a new kind of federal litigation."

Thus the Court, as the majority opinion says, repeatedly wrote that it was not "expanding" the scope of the *Bivens* remedy. But the Court nowhere suggested that it would narrow *Bivens*' existing scope. In fact, to diminish any ambiguity about its holdings, the Court set out a framework for determining whether a claim of constitutional violation calls for a *Bivens* remedy. At Step One, the court must determine whether the case before it arises in a "new context," that is, whether it involves a "new category of defendants," or (presumably) a significantly different

kind of constitutional harm, such as a purely procedural harm, a harm to speech, or a harm caused to physical property. *If the context is new, then* the court proceeds to Step Two and asks "whether any alternative, existing process for protecting the interest amounts to a convincing reason for the Judicial Branch to refrain from providing a new and freestanding remedy in damages." *If there is none, then* the court proceeds to Step Three and asks whether there are "'any special factors counselling hesitation before authorizing a new kind of federal litigation.'"

Precedent makes this framework applicable here. I would apply it. And, doing so, I cannot get past Step One. This suit, it seems to me, arises in a context similar to those in which this Court has previously permitted *Bivens* actions.

В 1

The context here is not "new," or "fundamentally different" than our previous *Bivens* cases. First, the plaintiffs are civilians, not members of the military. They are not citizens, but the Constitution protects noncitizens against serious mistreatment, as it protects citizens. Some or all of the plaintiffs here may have been illegally present in the United States. But that fact cannot justify physical mistreatment. Nor does anyone claim that that fact deprives them of a *Bivens* right available to other persons, citizens and noncitizens alike.

Second, the defendants are Government officials. They are not members of the military or private persons....

Third, from a *Bivens* perspective, the injuries that the plaintiffs claim they suffered are familiar ones. They focus upon the conditions of confinement. The plaintiffs say that they were unnecessarily shackled, confined in small unhygienic cells, subjected to continuous lighting (presumably preventing sleep), unnecessarily and frequently strip searched, slammed against walls, injured physically, and subject to verbal abuse. They allege that they suffered these harms because of their race or religion, the defendants having either turned a blind eye to what was happening or themselves introduced policies that they knew would lead to these harms even though the defendants knew the plaintiffs had no connections to terrorism.

These claimed harms are similar to, or even worse than, the harms the plaintiffs suffered in *Bivens* (unreasonable search and seizure in violation of the Fourth Amendment), *Davis* (unlawful discrimination in violation of the Fifth Amendment), and *Carlson* (deliberate indifference to medical need in violation of the Eighth Amendment). Indeed, we have said that, "[i]f a federal prisoner in a [Bureau of Prisons] facility alleges a constitutional deprivation, he may bring a *Bivens* claim against the offending individual officer, subject to the defense of qualified immunity." *Malesko*. The claims in this suit would seem to fill the *Bivens'* bill.

It is true that the plaintiffs bring their "deliberate indifference" claim against Warden Hasty under the Fifth Amendment's Due Process Clause, not the Eighth Amendment's Cruel and Unusual Punishment Clause, as in *Carlson*. But that is because the latter applies to convicted criminals while the former applies to pretrial and immigration detainees. Where the harm is the same, where this Court has held that both the Fifth and Eighth Amendments give rise to *Bivens'* remedies, and where the only difference in constitutional scope consists of a circumstance (the absence of a conviction) that makes the violation here worse, it cannot be

maintained that the difference between the use of the two Amendments is "fundamental."....

Nor has Congress suggested that it wants to withdraw a damages remedy in circumstances like these. By its express terms, the Prison Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (PLRA) does not apply to immigration detainees. See 42 U.S.C. \$ 1997e(h) ("[T]he term 'prisoner' means any person incarcerated or detained in any facility who is accused of, convicted of, sentenced for, or adjudicated delinquent for, violations of criminal law . . ."). . . .

If there were any lingering doubt that the claim against Warden Hasty arises in a familiar *Bivens* context, the Court has made clear that conditions-of-confinement claims and medical-care claims are subject to the same substantive standard. See *Hudson v. McMillian*, 503 U.S. 1, 8 (1992) ("[*Wilson v. Seiter*, 501 U.S. 294, 303 (1991)] extended the deliberate indifference standard applied to Eighth Amendment claims involving medical care to claims about conditions of confinement"). Indeed, the Court made this very point in a *Bivens* case alleging that prison wardens were deliberately indifferent to an inmate's safety.

\* \* \*

Because the context here is not new, I would allow the plaintiffs' constitutional claims to proceed....

9

Even were I wrong and were the context here "fundamentally different," the plaintiffs' claims would nonetheless survive Step Two and Step Three of the Court's framework for determining whether *Bivens* applies. Step Two consists of asking whether "any alternative, existing process for protecting the interest amounts to a convincing reason for the Judicial Branch to refrain from providing a new and freestanding remedy in damages." I can find no such "alternative, existing process" here.

The Court does not claim that the PLRA provides plaintiffs with a remedy. Rather, it says that the plaintiffs *may* have "had available to them" relief in the form of a prospective injunction or an application for a writ of habeas corpus. Neither a prospective injunction nor a writ of habeas corpus, however, will normally provide plaintiffs with redress for harms they have *already* suffered....

There being no "alternative, existing process" that provides a "convincing reason" for not applying *Bivens*, we must proceed to Step Three. Doing so, I can find no "special factors [that] counse[l] hesitation before authorizing" this *Bivens* action. I turn to this matter next.

II A

The Court describes two general considerations that it believes argue against an "extension" of *Bivens*. First, the majority opinion points out that the Court is now far less likely than at the time it decided *Bivens* to imply a cause of action for damages from a statute that does not explicitly provide for a damages claim. Second, it finds the "silence" of Congress "notable" in that Congress, though likely aware of the "high-level policies" involved in this suit, did not "choose to extend to any person the kind of remedies" that the plaintiffs here "seek." I doubt the strength of these two general considerations.

The first consideration, in my view, is not relevant [because the cases implying damages remedies for statutes was not the main basis for the decision in Bivens]....

Nor is the second circumstance — congressional silence — relevant in the manner that the majority opinion describes. The Court initially saw that silence as indicating an absence of congressional hostility to the Court's exercise of its traditional remedy-inferring powers. Congress' subsequent silence contains strong signs that it accepted *Bivens* actions as part of the law. . . .

В

The majority opinion also sets forth a more specific list of factors that it says bear on "whether a case presents a new *Bivens* context." In the Court's view, a "case might differ" from *Bivens* "in a meaningful way because of [1] the rank of the officers involved; [2] the constitutional right at issue; [3] the generality or specificity of the individual action; [4] the extent of judicial guidance as to how an officer should respond to the problem or emergency to be confronted; [5] the statutory or other legal mandate under which the officer was operating; [6] the risk of disruptive intrusion by the Judiciary into the functioning of other branches; [7] or the presence of potential special factors that previous *Bivens* cases did not consider." *Ante*, at 16. In my view, these factors do not make a "meaningful difference" at Step One of the *Bivens* framework. Some of them are better cast as "special factors" relevant to Step Three. But, as I see it, none should normally foreclose a *Bivens* action and none is determinative here.

\* \* \* C

In my view, the Court's strongest argument is that *Bivens* should not apply to policy-related actions taken in times of national-security need, for example, during war or national-security emergency. As the Court correctly points out, the Constitution grants primary power to protect the Nation's security to the Executive and Legislative Branches, not to the Judiciary. But the Constitution also delegates to the Judiciary the duty to protect an individual's fundamental constitutional rights. Hence when protection of those rights and a determination of security needs conflict, the Court has a role to play....

[A] Bivens action comes accompanied by many legal safeguards designed to prevent the courts from interfering with Executive and Legislative Branch activity reasonably believed to be necessary to protect national security.... The Constitution itself takes account of public necessity. Thus, for example, the Fourth Amendment does not forbid all Government searches and seizures; it forbids only those that are "unreasonable." Ordinarily, it requires that a police officer obtain a search warrant before entering an apartment, but should the officer observe a woman being dragged against her will into that apartment, he should, and will, act at once. The Fourth Amendment makes allowances for such "exigent circumstances." What is unreasonable and illegitimate in time of peace may be reasonable and legitimate in time of war.

Moreover, *Bivens* comes accompanied with a qualified-immunity defense. Federal officials will face suit only if they have violated a constitutional right that was "clearly established" at the time they acted.

#### D. IMPLIED REMEDIES FOR VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

Further, in order to prevent the very presence of a *Bivens* lawsuit from interfering with the work of a Government official, this Court has held that a complaint must state a claim for relief that is "plausible."

Finally, where such a claim is filed, courts can, and should, tailor discovery orders so that they do not unnecessarily or improperly interfere with the official's work....

Given these safeguards against undue interference by the Judiciary in times of war or national-security emergency, the Court's abolition, or limitation of, *Bivens* actions goes too far. If you are cold, put on a sweater, perhaps an overcoat, perhaps also turn up the heat, but do not set fire to the house.

At the same time, there may well be a particular need for *Bivens* remedies when security-related Government actions are at issue. History tells us of far too many instances where the Executive or Legislative Branch took actions during time of war that, on later examination, turned out unnecessarily and unreasonably to have deprived American citizens of basic constitutional rights....

Can we, in respect to actions taken during those periods, rely exclusively, as the Court seems to suggest, upon injunctive remedies or writs of habeas corpus, their retail equivalent? Complaints seeking that kind of relief typically come during the emergency itself, when emotions are strong, when courts may have too little or inaccurate information, and when courts may well prove particularly reluctant to interfere with even the least well-founded Executive Branch activity.

A damages action, however, is typically brought after the emergency is over, after emotions have cooled, and at a time when more factual information is available. In such circumstances, courts have more time to exercise such judicial virtues as calm reflection and dispassionate application of the law to the facts....

With respect, I dissent.

#### *Note: The Demise of Bivens?*

- 1. Ziglar significantly changed the analysis for determining whether to recognize a Bivens remedy. In Bivens, the Court adopted a presumption that individuals could bring an implied damages action for violations of the Constitution, invoking the traditional maxim that where there is a violation of a legal right, there is a remedy. The Court suggested that such an action would not lie only if Congress had created an alternative remedy or if anomalous, special factors counseled hesitation. Although the Court had exhibited antipathy towards recognizing new Bivens remedies for many years, it continued to adhere to the analysis set forth in Bivens.
- In *Ziglar*, the Court effectively reversed that presumption. Although continuing to maintain the rule that a *Biven* remedy will not lie only if there are special factors counseling hesitation, the Court suggested that most cases present such special factors and accordingly bar the creation of an implied remedy for damages for constitutional violations.
- **2.** In *Ziglar*, although the Court declines to overrule its prior decisions recognizing *Bivens* remedies, it says that expanding *Bivens* is now a "disfavored" judicial activity. It explains that although *Bivens* remedies may deter officials from violating the Constitution, they may overdeter and otherwise interfere with executive officials. According to the Court, the "balance" between these competing interests "is one for the Congress, and not the Judiciary, to undertake." Does this

56

CH. 8

analysis suggest that expanding *Bivens* is not merely disfavored, but prohibited? In what situations might the Court recognize a new *Bivens* remedy?

#### Problem

Sergio Caldor is a citizen of Mexico. He is walking down a dry riverbed that separates El Paso, Texas, from Juarez, Mexico. The border between the United States and Mexico runs down the middle of the riverbed. While he is walking down the Mexican side of the riverbed, Caldor sees United States Border Patrol agent John Smith on the United States side. Caldor begins taunting Agent Smith by calling him names. In response to the taunts, Agent Smith, while standing in U.S. territory, shoots his gun across the Mexican border and severely wounds Caldor.

Caldor subsequently files suit against Agent Smith in federal district court. He seeks damages under a *Bivens* theory, alleging that Agent Smith violated Caldor's rights under the Fourth and Fifth Amendments. Agent Smith moves to dismiss, arguing that Caldor's *Bivens* claim arises in a new context and that the court should not recognize the action because there are special factors counselling hesitation. Should the district court dismiss Caldor's action?

# Chapter 12

# Special Problems of Removal Jurisdiction

#### A. Introduction

Page 614: insert at end of section:

## Home Depot U.S.A., Inc. v. Jackson

Supreme Court of the United States, 2019. 139 S. Ct. 1743.

JUSTICE THOMAS delivered the opinion of the Court.

The general removal statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a), provides that "any civil action" over which a federal court would have original jurisdiction may be removed to federal court by "the defendant or the defendants." The Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 (CAFA) provides that "[a] class action" may be removed to federal court by "any defendant without the consent of all defendants." 28 U.S.C. § 1453(b). In this case, we address whether either provision allows a third-party counterclaim defendant — that is, a party brought into a lawsuit through a counterclaim filed by the original defendant — to remove the counterclaim filed against it. Because in the context of these removal provisions the term "defendant" refers only to the party sued by the original plaintiff, we conclude that neither provision allows such a third party to remove.

I A

We have often explained that "[f]ederal courts are courts of limited jurisdiction." . . . In 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1332(a), Congress granted federal courts jurisdiction over two general types of cases: cases that "aris[e] under" federal law, § 1331, and cases in which the amount in controversy exceeds \$75,000 and there is diversity of citizenship among the parties, § 1332(a). These jurisdictional grants are known as "federal-question jurisdiction" and "diversity jurisdiction," respectively. Each serves a distinct purpose: Federal-question jurisdiction affords parties a federal forum in which "to vindicate federal rights," whereas diversity jurisdiction provides "a neutral forum" for parties from different States.

Congress has modified these general grants of jurisdiction to provide federal courts with jurisdiction in certain other types of cases. As relevant here, CAFA provides district courts with jurisdiction over "class action[s]" in which the matter in controversy exceeds \$5,000,000 and at least one class member is a citizen of a State different from the defendant. § 1332(d)(2)(A). A "class action" is "any civil action filed under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure or similar State statute or rule of judicial procedure." § 1332(d)(l)(B).

In addition to granting federal courts jurisdiction over certain types of cases, Congress has enacted provisions that permit parties to remove cases originally filed in state court to federal court. Section 1441(a), the general removal statute, permits "the defendant or the defendants" in a state-court action over which the federal courts would have original jurisdiction to remove that action to federal court. To remove under this provision, a party must meet the requirements for removal detailed in other provisions. For one, a defendant cannot remove unilaterally. Instead, "all defendants who have been properly joined and served must join in or consent to the removal of the action." § 1446(b)(2)(A). Moreover,

when federal jurisdiction is based on diversity jurisdiction, the case generally must be removed within "1 year after commencement of the action," § 1446(c)(l), and the case may not be removed if any defendant is "a citizen of the State in which such action is brought," § 1441(b)(2).

CAFA also includes a removal provision specific to class actions. That provision permits the removal of a "class action" from state court to federal court "by any defendant without the consent of all defendants" and "without regard to whether any defendant is a citizen of the State in which the action is brought." § 1453(b).

At issue here is whether the term "defendant" in either § 1441(a) or § 1453(b) encompasses a party brought into a lawsuit to defend against a counterclaim filed by the original defendant or whether the provisions limit removal authority to the original defendant.

В

In June 2016, Citibank, N.A., filed a debt-collection action against respondent George Jackson in North Carolina state court. Citibank alleged that Jackson was liable for charges he incurred on a Home Depot credit card. In August 2016, Jackson answered and filed his own claims: an individual counterclaim against Citibank and third-party class-action claims against Home Depot U.S.A., Inc., and Carolina Water Systems, Inc.

Jackson's claims arose out of an alleged scheme between Home Depot and Carolina Water Systems to induce homeowners to buy water treatment systems at inflated prices. The crux of the claims was that Home Depot and Carolina Water Systems engaged in unlawful referral sales and deceptive and unfair trade practices in violation of North Carolina law. Jackson also asserted that Citibank was jointly and severally liable for the conduct of Home Depot and Carolina Water Systems and that his obligations under the sale were null and void.

In September 2016, Citibank dismissed its claims against Jackson. One month later, Home Depot filed a notice of removal, citing 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332, 1441, 1446, and 1453. Jackson moved to remand, arguing that precedent barred removal by a "third-party/additional counter defendant like Home Depot." Shortly thereafter, Jackson amended his third-party class-action claims to remove any reference to Citibank.

The District Court granted Jackson's motion to remand, and the Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit granted Home Depot permission to appeal and affirmed. Relying on Circuit precedent, it held that neither the general removal provision, § 1441(a), nor CAFA's removal provision, § 1453(b), allowed Home Depot to remove the class-action claims filed against it.

We granted Home Depot's petition for a writ of certiorari to determine whether a third party named in a class-action counterclaim brought by the original defendant can remove if the claim otherwise satisfies the jurisdictional requirements of CAFA. We also directed the parties to address whether the holding in *Shamrock Oil & Gas Corp. v. Sheets*, 313 U.S. 100 (1941) — that an

original plaintiff may not remove a counterclaim against it — should extend to third-party counter-claim defendants.<sup>1</sup>

II A

We first consider whether 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a) permits a third-party counterclaim defendant to remove a claim filed against it.² Home Depot contends that because a third-party counterclaim defendant is a "defendant" to the claim against it, it may remove pursuant to § 1441(a). The dissent agrees, emphasizing that "a 'defendant' is a 'person sued in a civil proceeding.'" This reading of the statute is plausible, but we do not think it is the best one. Of course the term "defendant," standing alone, is broad. But the phrase "the defendant or the defendants" "cannot be construed in a vacuum." ... Considering the phrase "the defendant or the defendants" in light of the structure of the statute and our precedent, we conclude that § 1441(a) does not permit removal by any counterclaim defendant, including parties brought into the lawsuit for the first time by the counterclaim.³

Home Depot emphasizes that it is a "defendant" to a "claim," but the statute refers to "civil action[s]," not "claims." This Court has long held that a district court, when determining whether it has original jurisdiction over a civil action, should evaluate whether that action could have been brought originally in federal court. Tennessee v. Union & Planters' Bank, 152 U.S. 454, 461 (1894) [Casebook p. 492]. This requires a district court to evaluate whether the plaintiff could have filed its operative complaint in federal court, either because it raises claims arising under federal law or because it falls within the court's diversity jurisdiction. E.g., Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Construction Laborers Vacation Trust for Southern Cal., 463 U.S. 1, 10 (1983); cf. Holmes Group, Inc. v. Vornado Air Circulation Systems, Inc., 535 U.S. 826, 831 (2002) ("[A] counterclaim... cannot serve as the basis for 'arising under' jurisdiction"); § 1446(c)(2) (deeming the "sum demanded in good faith in the initial pleading... the amount in controversy"). Section 1441(a) thus does not permit removal based on counterclaims at all, as a counterclaim is irrelevant to whether the district court had "original jurisdiction" over the civil action. And because the "civil action . . . of which the district cour[t]" must have "original jurisdiction" is the action as defined by the plaintiff's complaint, "the defendant" to that action is the defendant to that complaint, not a party named in a counterclaim. It is this statutory context, not [as stated in the dissent] "the policy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In this opinion, we use the term "third-party counterclaim defendant" to refer to a party first brought into the case as an additional defendant to a counterclaim asserted against the original plaintiff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Section 1441(a) provides that "any civil action brought in a State court of which the district courts of the United States have original jurisdiction, may be removed by the defendant or the defendants, to the district court of the United States for the district and division embracing the place where such action is pending."

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Even the dissent declines to rely on the dictionary definition of "defendant" alone, as following that approach to its logical conclusion would require overruling *Shamrock Oil & Gas Corp. v. Sheets*, 313 U.S. 100 (1941).

goals behind the [well-pleaded complaint] rule," that underlies our interpretation of the phrase "the defendant or the defendants."

The use of the term "defendant" in related contexts bolsters our determination that Congress did not intend for the phrase "the defendant or the defendants" in § 1441(a) to include third-party counterclaim defendants. For one, the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure differentiate between third-party defendants, counterclaim defendants, and defendants. Rule 14, which governs "Third-Party Practice," distinguishes between "the plaintiff," a "defendant" who becomes the "third-party plaintiff," and "the third-party defendant" sued by the original defendant. Rule 12 likewise distinguishes between defendants and counterclaim defendants by separately specifying when "[a] defendant must serve an answer" and when "[a] party must serve an answer to a counterclaim."

Moreover, in other removal provisions, Congress has clearly extended the reach of the statute to include parties other than the original defendant. For instance, § 1452(a) permits "[a] party" in a civil action to "remove any claim or cause of action" over which a federal court would have bankruptcy jurisdiction. And §§ 1454(a) and (b) allow "any party" to remove "[a] civil action in which any party asserts a claim for relief arising under any Act of Congress relating to patents, plant variety protection, or copyrights." Section 1441(a), by contrast, limits removal to "the defendant or the defendants" in a "civil action" over which the district courts have original jurisdiction.

Finally, our decision in Shamrock Oil suggests that third-party counterclaim defendants are not "the defendant or the defendants" who can remove under § 1441(a). Shamrock Oil held that a counterclaim defendant who was also the original plaintiff could not remove under § 1441(a)'s predecessor statute. We agree with Home Depot that Shamrock Oil does not specifically address whether a party who was not the original plaintiff can remove a counterclaim filed against it. And we acknowledge, as Home Depot points out, that a third-party counterclaim defendant, unlike the original plaintiff, has no role in selecting the forum for the suit. But the text of § 1441(a) simply refers to "the defendant or the defendants" in the civil action. If a counterclaim defendant who was the original plaintiff is not one of "the defendants," we see no textual reason to reach a different conclusion for a counterclaim defendant who was not originally part of the lawsuit. In that regard, Shamrock Oil did not view the counterclaim as a separate action with a new plaintiff and a new defendant. Instead, the Court highlighted that the original plaintiff was still "the plaintiff." Id. at 108 ("We can find no basis for saying that Congress, by omitting from the present statute all reference to 'plaintiffs,' intended to save a right of removal to some plaintiffs and not to others"). Similarly here, the filing of counterclaims that included class-action allegations against a third party did not create a new "civil action" with a new "plaintiff" and a new "defendant."

Home Depot asserts that reading "the defendant" in § 1441(a) to exclude third-party counterclaim defendants runs counter to the history and purposes of removal by preventing a party involuntarily brought into state-court proceedings from removing the claim against it. But the limits Congress has imposed on removal show that it did not intend to allow all defendants an unqualified right to remove. *E.g.*, § 1441(b)(2) (preventing removal based on diversity jurisdiction where any defendant is a citizen of the State in which the action is brought). Moreover, Home Depot's interpretation makes little sense in the context of other removal provisions. For instance, when removal is based on § 1441(a), all

defendants must consent to removal. See \$1446(b)(2)(A). Under Home Depot's interpretation, "defendants" in \$1446(b)(2)(A) could be read to require consent from the third-party counterclaim defendant, the original plaintiff (as a counterclaim defendant), and the original defendant asserting claims against them. Further, Home Depot's interpretation would require courts to determine when the original defendant is also a "plaintiff" under other statutory provisions. *E.g.*, \$1446(c)(l). Instead of venturing down this path, we hold that a third-party counterclaim defendant is not a "defendant" who can remove under \$1441(a).

В

We next consider whether CAFA's removal provision, § 1453(b), permits a third-party counterclaim defendant to remove. Home Depot contends that even if it could not remove under § 1441(a), it could remove under § 1453(b) because that statute is worded differently. It argues that although § 1441(a) permits removal only by "the defendant or the defendants" in a "civil action," § 1453(b) permits removal by "any defendant" to a "class action." (Emphasis added.) Jackson responds that this argument ignores the context of § 1453(b), which he contends makes clear that Congress intended only to alter certain restrictions on removal, not expand the class of parties who can remove a class action. Although this is a closer question, we agree with Jackson. [Discussion omitted.]

\* \* \*

Because neither § 1441(a) nor § 1453(b) permits removal by a third-party counterclaim defendant, Home Depot could not remove the class-action claim filed against it. Accordingly, we affirm the judgment of the Fourth Circuit.

It is so ordered.

JUSTICE ALITO, with whom THE CHIEF JUSTICE, JUSTICE GORSUCH, and JUSTICE KAVANAUGH join, dissenting.

The rule of law requires neutral forums for resolving disputes. Courts are designed to provide just that. But our legal system takes seriously the risk that for certain cases, some neutral forums might be more neutral than others. Or it might appear that way, which is almost as deleterious. For example, a party bringing suit in its own State's courts might (seem to) enjoy, so to speak, a home court advantage against outsiders. Thus, from 1789 Congress has opened federal courts to certain disputes between citizens of different States. Plaintiffs, of course, can avail themselves of the federal option in such cases by simply choosing to *file* a case in federal court. But since their defendants cannot, the law has always given defendants the option to *remove* (transfer) cases to federal court. *Shamrock Oil & Gas Corp. v. Sheets*, 313 U.S. 100, 105 (1941). The general removal statute, which authorizes removal by "the defendant or the defendants," thus ensures that defendants get an equal chance to choose a federal forum. 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a).

But defendants cannot remove a case unless it meets certain conditions. Some of those conditions have long made important (and often costly) consumer class actions virtually impossible to remove. Congress, concerned that state courts were biased against defendants to such actions, passed a law facilitating their removal. The Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 (CAFA) allows removal of certain class actions "by any defendant." 28 U.S.C. § 1453(b). Our job is not to judge whether Congress's fears about state-court bias in class actions were warranted or indeed whether CAFA should allay them. We are to determine the scope of the term "defendant" under CAFA as well as the general removal provision, § 1441.

All agree that if one party sues another, the latter — the original defendant — is a "defendant" under both removal laws. But suppose the original defendant then countersues, bringing claims against both the plaintiff and a new party. Is this new defendant — the "third-party defendant" — also a "defendant" under CAFA and § 1441? There are, of course, some differences between original and third-party defendants. One is brought into a case by the first major filing, the other by the second. The one filing is called a complaint, the other a countercomplaint.

But both kinds of parties are defendants to legal claims. Neither chose to be in state court. Both might face bias there, and with it the potential for crippling unjust losses. Yet today's Court holds that third-party defendants are not "defendants." It holds that Congress left them unprotected under CAFA and § 1441. This reads an irrational distinction into both removal laws and flouts their plain meaning, a meaning that context confirms and today's majority simply ignores.

[In Parts I through III of his opinion, Justice Alito argued that Home Depot could remove the case under 28 U.S.C. § 1453(b), which as noted above allows removal of certain class actions "by any defendant."]

#### IV

So far I have accepted, *arguendo*, the majority and respondent's view that third-party defendants are *not* covered by the general removal provision, § 1441. But I agree with petitioner that this is incorrect. On a proper reading of § 1441, too, third-party defendants are "defendants" entitled to remove. Though a majority of District Courts would disagree, their exclusion of third-party defendants has rested (in virtually every instance) on a misunderstanding of a previous case of ours, and the mere fact that this misreading has spread is no reason for us to go along with it. Nor, contrary to the majority, does a refusal to recognize third-party defendants under § 1441 find support in our precedent embracing the so-called "well-pleaded complaint" rule, which is all about how a plaintiff can make its case unremovable, not about which defendants may seek removal in those cases that *can* be removed.

#### A

Look at lower court cases excluding third-party defendants from § 1441. Trace their lines of authority — the cases and sources they cite, and those *they* cite — and the lines will invariably converge on one point: our decision in *Shamrock Oil*. But nothing in that case justifies the common reading of § 1441 among the lower courts, a reading that treats some defendants who never chose the state forum differently from others.

As a preliminary matter,  $Shamrock\ Oil$  is too sensible to produce such an arbitrary result. That case involved a close ancestor of today's general removal provision, one that allowed removal of certain state-court actions at the motion of "the defendant or defendants therein." And our holding was simple: If A sues B in state court, and B brings a counterclaim against A, this does not then allow A to remove the case to federal court. As the original plaintiff who chose the forum, A does not get to change its mind now. That is all that  $Shamrock\ Oil$  held. The issue of third-party defendants never arose. And none of the Court's three rationales would support a bar on removal by parties  $other\ than$  original plaintiffs.

Shamrock Oil looked to statutory history, text, and purpose. As to history, it noted that removal laws had evolved to give the power to remove first to "defendants," then to "'either party, or any one or more of the plaintiffs or defendants," and finally to "defendants" again. The last revision must have been designed to withdraw removal power from someone, we inferred, and the only candidate was the plaintiff. Second, we said there was no basis in the text for distinguishing mere plaintiffs from plaintiffs who had been countersued, so we would treat them the same; neither could remove. Third, we offered a policy rationale: "[T]he plaintiff, having submitted himself to the jurisdiction of the state court, was not entitled to avail himself of a right of removal conferred only on a defendant who has not submitted himself to the jurisdiction." In this vein, we quoted a House Report calling it "just and proper to require the plaintiff to abide his selection of a forum." So history, language, and logic demanded that original plaintiffs remain unable to remove even if countersued.

None of these considerations applies to third-party defendants. If anything, all three point the other way. First, the statutory history cited by the Court shows that Congress (and the *Shamrock Oil* Court itself) took "the plaintiffs or defendants" to be jointly exhaustive categories. By that logic, since third-party defendants are certainly not plaintiffs— in any sense— they must be "defendants" under § 1441. *Cf.* Webster 591 (defining "defendant" as "opposed to *plaintiff*"); 4 OED 377 (same). Second, and relatedly, the text of the general removal statute, then and now, does not distinguish original from third-party defendants when it comes to granting removal power— any more than it had distinguished plaintiffs who were and were not countersued when it came to *withdrawing* the right to remove, as *Shamrock Oil* emphasized. And finally, *Shamrock Oil*'s focus on fairness— reflected in its point that plaintiffs may fairly be stuck with the forum they chose— urges the opposite treatment for third-party defendants. Like original defendants, they never chose to submit themselves to the state-court forum.

Thus, all three grounds for excluding original plaintiffs in *Shamrock Oil* actually support *allowing* third-party defendants to remove under § 1441.

В

Respondent leans on his claim that District Courts to address the issue have reached a "consensus" that *Shamrock Oil* bars third-party defendants from removing. [But] rumors of a "consensus" have been greatly exaggerated. [As part of his discussion of CAFA, omitted here, Justice Alito reviewed the decisions supposedly giving rise to the "consensus."] And in any case, no interpretive principle requires leaving intact the lower courts' misreading of a case of ours.

Certainly there is no reason to presume that Congress embraces the lower courts' majority view. For one thing, the cases distorting § 1441 postdate the last revision of the relevant statutory language, so they could not have informed Congress's view of what it was signing onto. And it would be naive to assume that Congress now agrees with those lower court cases just because it has not reacted to them. Congress does not accept the common reading of every law it leaves alone. Because life is short, the U.S. Code is long, and court cases are legion, it normally takes more than a court's misreading of a law to rouse Congress to issue a correction. That is why "Congressional inaction lacks persuasive significance' in most circumstances." In particular, "it is inappropriate to give weight to 'Congress' unenacted opinion' when construing judge-made doctrines, because doing so allows

the Court to create law and then 'effectively codif[y]' it 'based only on Congress' failure to address it. '" *Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc.*, 573 U.S. 258, 299 (2014) (Thomas, J., concurring in judgment). Because the decisions misreading *Shamrock Oil* are not a reliable indicator of Congress's intent regarding § 1441, we owe them no deference.

(

Finally, according to the majority, reading § 1441 to include third-party defendants would run afoul of our precedent establishing the "well-pleaded complaint" rule (WPC rule). Assuming that I have been able to reconstruct the majority's argument from this rule accurately, I think it rests on a non sequitur. The WPC rule is all about a plaintiff's ability to choose the forum in which its case is heard, by controlling whether there is federal jurisdiction; the rule has nothing to do with the division of labor or authority among defendants.

Under the WPC rule, we consider only the plaintiff's claims to see if there is federal-question jurisdiction. Whether the defendant raises federal counterclaims (or even federal defenses) is irrelevant. See, *e.g.*, *Holmes Group, Inc. v. Vornado Air Circulation Systems, Inc.*, 535 U.S. 826, 831 (2002). Likewise, in a case involving standard diversity jurisdiction (based on complete diversity under § 1332(a) rather than minimal diversity under CAFA), it is "the sum demanded . . . in the initial pleading" that determines whether the amount in controversy is large enough. § 1446(c)(2). In both kinds of cases, a federal court trying to figure out if it has "original jurisdiction," as required for removal of cases under § 1441(a), must shut its eyes to the defendant's filings. Only the plaintiff's complaint counts. So says the WPC rule.

But that is all about *jurisdiction*. The majority and respondent would take things a step further. Even after assuring itself of jurisdiction, they urge, a court should consult only the plaintiff's complaint to see if a party *is a "defendant"* empowered to remove under § 1441. Since third-party defendants (by definition) are not named until the countercomplaint, they are not § 1441 "defendants."

I cannot fathom why this rule about who is a "defendant" should follow from the WPC rule about when there is federal jurisdiction. And the majority makes no effort to fill the logical gap; it betrays almost no awareness of the gap, drawing the relevant inference in two conclusory sentences. But since this Court's reasons for the WPC rule have sounded in policy, the argument could only be that the same policy goals would support today's restriction on who is a § 1441 "defendant." What *are* the policy goals behind the WPC rule? We have described them as threefold. See *Holmes Group, Inc.*, 535 U.S. at 831-32.

First.

since the plaintiff is "the master of the complaint," the well-pleaded-complaint rule enables him, "by eschewing claims based on federal law,... to have the cause heard in state court."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court insists that its position is based on "statutory context," not the logic behind the well-pleaded complaint rule. But the only context to which the Court points is our precedent establishing the well-pleaded complaint rule. It is that rule — the rule that federal jurisdiction over an action turns entirely on the plaintiffs complaint — that leads the Court to think furthermore that "the defendant' to [an] action is the defendant to that complaint."

Caterpillar Inc., [482 U.S.] at 398-99. [Allowing a defendant's counterclaims or defenses to create federal-question jurisdiction], in contrast, would leave acceptance or rejection of a state forum to the master of the counterclaim. It would allow a defendant to remove a case brought in state court under state law, thereby defeating a plaintiff's choice of forum, simply by raising a federal counterclaim. *Ibid.* 

But this concern is not implicated here; adopting petitioner's reading of "defendant" would in no way reduce the extent of a plaintiff's control over the forum. Plaintiffs would be able to keep state-law cases in state court no matter what we held about § 1441, and any cases removable by third-party defendants would have been removable by original defendants anyway. In other words, the issue here is *who* can remove under that provision, not *which cases* can be removed. However we resolved that "who" question, removability under § 1441(a) would still require cases to fall within federal courts' "original jurisdiction," § 1441(a), and *that* would still turn just on the plaintiff's choices — on whether the plaintiff had raised federal claims (or sued diverse parties for enough money). So a case that a plaintiff had brought "in state court under state law" would remain beyond federal jurisdiction, and thus unremovable under § 1441(a), even if we held that third-party defendants are "defendants" under that provision.

By the same token, such a holding would not undermine the *second* policy justification that *Holmes* gave for the WPC rule: namely, to avoid "radically expand[ing] the class of removable cases, contrary to the '[d]ue regard for the rightful independence of state governments.' "As noted, our decision on the scope of § 1441's "defendants" would not expand the class of removable cases *at all*, because it would have no impact on whether a case fell within federal courts' jurisdiction. It would only expand the set of people ("the defendants") who would have to consent to such removal: Now third-party *and* original defendants would have to agree.

The majority declares that treating third-party defendants as among "the defendants" under § 1441 "makes little sense." Perhaps its concern is that such a ruling would make no meaningful difference since third-party defendants would still be powerless to remove unless they secured the consent of the original defendants, who are their adversaries in litigation. But for one thing, there may be cases in which original defendants do consent. Though original and third-party defendants are rivals as to claims brought by the one against the other, they may well agree that a federal forum would be preferable. After all, neither will have chosen the state forum in which both find themselves prior to removal.<sup>5</sup>

More to the point, even if third-party defendants could not secure the agreement needed to remove an entire civil action under § 1441(a), counting them as "defendants" under § 1441 would make a difference by allowing them to invoke

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Or perhaps the majority fears that petitioner's position would make it harder for *original* defendants under § 1441(a), by requiring them to get the consent of the third-party defendants against whom they have just brought suit. But this is an illusory problem. Original defendants hoping to remove under § 1441(a) without having to get their adversaries to agree could simply remove the case *before* roping in any third-party defendants.

§ 1441(c)(2), which would permit them to remove certain claims (not whole actions) without original defendants' consent. Being able to remove claims under § 1441(c)(2) has, in fact, been the main benefit to third-party defendants in those jurisdictions that have ruled that they are "defendants" under § 1441. But this effect of such a ruling is immune to the objection that it would "radically expand the class of removable cases" since § 1441(c)(2) does not address the removal of a whole case (a "civil action") at all, but only of some claims within a case — and only those that could have been brought in federal court from the start, "in a separate suit from that filed by the original plaintiff." Notably, then, any claims that were raised by the original plaintiff would get to remain in state court. Here too, the WPC rule's concern to avoid "radically expand[ing] the class of removable cases" is just not implicated.

This leaves *Holmes*'s final rationale for the WPC rule: that it promotes "clarity and ease of administration" in the resolution of procedural disputes. But petitioner's and respondent's views on who is a "defendant" are equally workable, so this last factor does not cut one way or the other.

In sum, the actual WPC rule, which limits the filings courts may consult in determining if they have jurisdiction, is based on policy concerns that do not arise here. There is, therefore, no justification for inventing an ersatz WPC rule to limit which filings may be consulted by courts deciding who is a "defendant" under § 1441.

\* \* \*

All the resources of statutory interpretation confirm that under CAFA and § 1441, third-party defendants are defendants. I respectfully dissent.

# Note: Removal by Third Party Defendants

- 1. This case began as a debt-collection action in North Carolina state court brought by Citibank, N.A. against George Jackson. But as it comes to the Supreme Court, the case is a class action by Jackson against Home Depot U.S.A. Inc. and Carolina Water Systems Inc. Citibank is no longer a party. Does the Court adequately consider the import of this procedural history?
- 2. In arguing that it should be permitted to remove, Home Depot relied on two sections of Chapter 89: section 1441(a), the general removal statute, and section 1453, enacted as part of the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 (CAFA). Most of the discussion of CAFA in the majority and dissenting opinions is omitted from the report above, but one aspect of the dissent deserves attention. Justice Alito pointed out that in *Dart Cherokee Basin Operating Co. v. Owens*, 135 S. Ct. 547 (2014), the Supreme Court rejected the lower court's reliance on a "purported 'presumption' against removal" and said: "[No] antiremoval presumption attends cases invoking CAFA, which Congress enacted to facilitate adjudication of certain class actions in federal court." See Casebook p. 614. The Court does not respond to Justice Alito's citation of *Dart Cherokee*, and indeed the Court's discussion of § 1453 is quite brief.
- **3.** In explaining why a third-party counterclaim defendant like Home Depot cannot remove under § 1441(a), the Court invokes the well pleaded complaint rule, citing a predecessor case to *Mottley* (Casebook p. 491). Justice Alito, in dissent, insists that the well pleaded complaint rule is irrelevant. Who has the better of this argument?

**4.** Under Rule 21 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the court "may sever any claim against a party." Suppose that in the *Home Depot* case Jackson's class action was formally severed from the original civil action. Could Home Depot then remove?

Copyright © 2019 Carolina Academic Press, LLC. All rights reserved.

# Appendix B The Justices of the United States Supreme Court, 1946-2018 Terms

U.S. Reports	<u>Term</u> *	The Court**
$329 - 332^1$	1946	Vinson, Black, Reed, Frankfurter, Douglas, Murphy, Jackson, Rutledge, Burton
$332^{1}-335^{2}$	1947	"
$335^{2}$ - $338^{3}$	1948	11
338 <b>³-</b> 339	1949	Vinson, Black, Reed, Frankfurter, Douglas, Jackson,
		Burton, Clark, Minton
340-341	1950	"
342-343	1951	"
$344 - 346^4$	1952	"
$346^{4} - 347$	1953	Warren, Black, Reed, Frankfurter, Douglas,
		Jackson, Burton, Clark, Minton
348-349	1954	Warren, Black, Reed, Frankfurter, Douglas, Burton,
		Clark, Minton, Harlan <sup>5</sup>
350-351	1955	II
352-354	1956	Warren, Black, Reed, Frankfurter, Douglas, Burton,
		Clark, Harlan, Brennan, Whittaker <sup>7</sup>
355-357	1957	Warren, Black, Frankfurter, Douglas, Burton, Clark,
		Harlan, Brennan, Whittaker
358-360	1958	Warren, Black, Frankfurter, Douglas, Clark, Harlan,
		Brennan, Whittaker, Stewart
$361 - 364^{8}$	1959	"
$364^{8} - 367$	1960	u .

 $<sup>^{*}</sup>$  Rule 3 of the Supreme Court's Rules provides in part: "The Court holds a continuous annual Term commencing on the first Monday in October and ending on the day before the first Monday in October of the following year."

<sup>\*\*</sup> Justices are listed in order of seniority. Boldface indicates a new Chief Justice.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$  The 1947 Term begins at 332 U.S. 371.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 2}$  The 1948 Term begins at 335 U.S. 281.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>scriptscriptstyle 3}$  The 1949 Term begins at 338 U.S. 217.

 $<sup>^4\,\</sup>mathrm{The}$  1953 Term begins at 346 U.S. 325.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 5}$  Participation begins with 349 U.S.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 6}$  Participation ends with 352 U.S. 564.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Participation begins with 353 U.S.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 8}$  The 1960 Term begins with 364 U.S. 285.

## $70\;$ APPENDIX B: THE JUSTICES OF THE U.S. SUPREME COURT, 1946-2018 TERMS

<u>U.S. Reports</u> 368-370	<u>Term</u> 1961	The Court* Wormen Block Eventrium 9 Deugles Clork Harlen
909-910	1901	Warren, Black, Frankfurter, <sup>9</sup> Douglas, Clark, Harlan, Brennan, Whittaker, <sup>10</sup> Stewart, White <sup>11</sup>
371-374	1962	Warren, Black, Douglas, Clark, Harlan, Brennan,
		Stewart, White, Goldberg
375-378	1963	"
379-381	1964	"
382-384	1965	Warren, Black, Douglas, Clark, Harlan, Brennan,
		Stewart, White, Fortas
385-388	1966	II
389-392	1967	Warren, Black, Douglas, Harlan, Brennan, Stewart, White, Fortas, Marshall
393-395	1968	Warren, Black, Douglas, Harlan, Brennan, Stewart,
		White, Fortas, 12 Marshall
396-399	1969	Burger, Black, Douglas, Harlan, Brennan, Stewart,
		White, Marshall, [vacancy]
400-403	1970	Burger, Black, Douglas, Harlan, Brennan, Stewart,
		White, Marshall, Blackmun
404-408	1971	Burger, Douglas, Brennan, Stewart, White, Marshall,
		Blackmun, Powell, 13 Rehnquist 18
409-413	1972	II
414-418	1973	"
419-422	1974	"
423-428	1975	Burger, Brennan, Stewart, White, Marshall, Blackmun, Powell, Rehnquist, Stevens <sup>14</sup>
429-433	1976	"
434-438	1977	"
439-443	1978	"
444-448	1979	II
449-453	1980	II
454-458	1981	Burger, Brennan, White, Marshall, Blackmun,
		Powell, Rehnquist, Stevens, O'Connor
459-463	1982	"
464-468	1983	II
469-473	1984	"
474-478	1985	"
479-483	1986	<b>Rehnquist</b> , Brennan, White, Marshall, Blackmun, Powell, Stevens, O'Connor, Scalia
484-487	1987	II

 $^{\ast}$  Justices are listed in order of seniority. Boldface indicates a new Chief Justice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Participation ends with 369 U.S. 422.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 10}$  Participation ends with 369 U.S. 120.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 11}$  Participation begins with 370 U.S.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 12}$  Participation ends with 394 U.S.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 13}$  Participation begins with 405 U.S.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 14}$  Participation begins with 424 U.S.

## APPENDIX B: THE JUSTICES OF THE U.S. SUPREME COURT, 1946-2018 TERMS 71

U.S. Reports	<u>Term</u>	The Court*
488-492	1988	Rehnquist, Brennan, White, Marshall, Blackmun,
		Stevens, O'Connor, Scalia, Kennedy
493-497	1989	"
498-501	1990	Rehnquist, White, Marshall, Blackmun, Stevens,
		O'Connor, Scalia, Kennedy, Souter
502-505	1991	Rehnquist, White, Blackmun, Stevens, O'Connor,
		Scalia, Kennedy, Souter, Thomas
506-509	1992	"
510-512	1993	Rehnquist, Blackmun, Stevens, O'Connor, Scalia,
		Kennedy, Souter, Thomas, Ginsburg
513-515	1994	Rehnquist, Stevens, O'Connor, Scalia, Kennedy,
		Souter, Thomas, Ginsburg, Breyer
516-518	1995	"
519-521	1996	"
522-524	1997	"
525-527	1998	"
528-530	1999	"
531-533	2000	"
534-536	2001	"
537-539	2002	"
540-542	2003	"
543-545	$2004^{15}$	Rehnquist, Stevens, O'Connor, Scalia, Kennedy,
		Souter, Thomas, Ginsburg, Breyer
546-548	2005	Roberts, Stevens, O'Connor, 16 Scalia, Kennedy,
		Souter, Thomas, Ginsburg, Breyer, Alito <sup>17</sup>
549-551	2006	Roberts, Stevens, Scalia, Kennedy, Souter, Thomas,
		Ginsburg, Breyer, Alito
552-554	2007	"
555-557	2008	"
558-561	2009	Roberts, Stevens, Scalia, Kennedy, Thomas,
		Ginsburg, Breyer, Alito, Sotomayor
562-564	2010	Roberts, Scalia, Kennedy, Thomas, Ginsburg,
		Breyer, Alito, Sotomayor, Kagan
565-567	2011	"
568-570	2012	"
571-573	2013	"
574-576	2014	"

<sup>\*</sup> Justices are listed in order of seniority. Boldface indicates a new Chief Justice.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 15}$  Chief Justice Rehnquist died on Sept. 3, 2005, shortly before the 2004 Term officially concluded, but after all opinions from that Term had been delivered.

 $<sup>^{16}</sup>$  Participation ends with 546 U.S. 417.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 17}$  Participation begins with 547 U.S.

## 72 APPENDIX B: THE JUSTICES OF THE U.S. SUPREME COURT, 1946-2018 TERMS

U.S. Reports	<u>Term</u>	The Court*
577-579	2015	Roberts, Scalia, <sup>18</sup> Kennedy, Thomas, Ginsburg,
		Breyer, Alito, Sotomayor, Kagan
580-582	2016	Roberts, Kennedy, Thomas, Ginsburg,
		Breyer, Alito, Sotomayor, Kagan, Gorsuch <sup>19</sup>
583-585	2017	Roberts, Kennedy, Thomas, Ginsburg, Breyer,
		Alito, Sotomayor, Kagan, Gorsuch
586-588	2018	Roberts, Thomas, Ginsburg, Breyer, Alito,
		Sotomayor, Kagan, Gorsuch, Kavanaugh

 $<sup>^{\</sup>ast}$  Justices are listed in order of seniority. Boldface indicates a new Chief Justice.

 $<sup>^{18}</sup>$  Justice Scalia died on February 13, 2016, before most of the cases argued in the 2015 Term were decided. His participation ended with 136 S. Ct. 760.

 $<sup>^{19}</sup>$  Justice Gorsuch joined the Court on April 10, 2017. He took no part in any of the cases from the 2016 Term discussed in the casebook except *Trinity Lutheran Church of Columbia, Inc. v. Comer* (Chapter 19).